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 Friday 6 May 2016 commencing at 9.30am. 
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PUBLIC BUSINESS   
 
    

1. APOLOGIES    

2. PUBLIC COMMENT  
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 Presentation by Cr C Milne, Chair of Technology Valley  
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20 JANUARY 2016 - 31 MARCH 2016 (16/397) 
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Wellington Water  64 
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STATEMENTS F OR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 (16/398) 

Report No. HVSC2016/2/2 by the Financial Accounting Manager , Hutt 
City Council  67 
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9. SILVERSTREAM LANDFIL L UPDATE  (16/399) 

Report No. HVSC2016/2/62 by the Landfill Consultant, Tonkin and Taylor  76 

10. AKATARAWA CEMETERY U PDATE  (16/400) 

Report No. HVSC2016/2/63 by the Parks and Reserves Manager, Upper 
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12. DOG CONTROL UPDATE  (16/402) 

Report No. HVSC2016/2/64 by the Compliance Services Manager, Upper 
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13. HEALTH OFFICE ACTIVI TIES UPDATE  (16/403) 

Report No. HVSC2016/2/33 by the Divisional Manager, Regulatory 
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14. REGIONAL JOINT SERVI CES OPPORTUNITIES  (16/404) 

15. QUESTIONS  
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HUTT CITY COUNCIL  
 

HUTT VALLEY SERVICES COMMITTEE  
 

Minutes of a meeting held in the Upper Hutt City Council Chambers, 838 -842 Fergusson 
Drive, Upper Hutt  on 

 Friday 4 March 2016 commencing at 9.30am 
 

 
 PRESENT:  Cr A Finlayson, HCC (Chair)  

Cr D Wheeler, UHCC (Deputy Chair) 
Mayor WN Guppy, UHCC  
Deputy Mayor Bassett, HCC 
Cr P Lambert, UHCC 
Cr T Lewis, HCC 

   Cr H Swales, UHCC 
    
APOLOGIES : Mayor WR Wallace HCC, Cr G McArthur UHCC and Cr C Milne 

HCC 
 
IN ATTENDANCE : Mr T Stallinger, Chief Executive, HCC  

Mr C Upton, Chief Executive, UHCC   
 Mr G Stuart, Divisional Manager, Regulatory Services, HCC 

Mr D Newth, Financial Accounting Manager, HCC (part meeting)  
Mr G Sewell, Principal Policy Advisor, HCC (part meeting)  
Ms K Glanville, Senior Committee Advisor, HCC  

 Mrs H Clegg, Minute Taker  
 

 
PUBLIC BUSINESS  

 
  

1. APOLOGIES    

RESOLVED:                                                                            Minute No. HVSC 161 01 

òThat the apologies received from Mayor Wallace, Cr McArthur and Cr Milne be accepted 
and leave of absence be granted.ó 

2. PUBLIC COMMENT  

There was no public comment. 

3. CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATIONS     

 There were no conflicts of interest declarations. 
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4. MINUTES  

RESOLVED:                                                                            Minute No. HVSC 16102 

òThat the minutes of the Hutt Valley Services Committee meeting held on 27 November 
2015 be confirmed as a true and accurate record.ó 

 

5. DRAFT HUTT VALLEY TR ADE WASTE BYLAW  (16/118) 

Report No. HVSC2016/1/6 by the Principal Policy Advisor , Hutt City Council  

 The Principal Policy Advisor elaborated on the report.  He advised that the bylaw would 
be updated to reflect changes to New Zealand and International Standards for the 
treatment of waste.  He said he had recently met with representatives from Port 
Nicholson Block Settlement Trust to discuss the public consultation process.  He stated 
that officers were drafting a schedule outlining the proposed changes to the bylaw, why 
they were proposed and any implications of the changes. 

In response to questions from members, the Principal Policy Advisor advised that the 
membership of the Subcommittee would be addressed at the next Committee meeting in 
May 2016.  He said he did not envisage any financial implications due to the 
implementation of the proposed bylaw.  

In response to a question from a member, the Divisional Manager, Regulatory Services 
advised that that had been no issues with the implementation of the current bylaw and 
indicated that it was working well.  

 
RECOMMENDED : Minute No. HVSC 16103 

òThat the Committee: 

(i) notes the Hutt Valley Trade Waste Bylaw 2006 needs to be reviewed in accordance with 
the provisions of the Local Government Act 2002; 

(ii)  notes that the draft Hutt Valley Trade Waste Bylaw will be presented to the next meeting 
of the Hutt Valley Services Committee on 6 May 2016;  

(iii)  notes the timeline for review of the Hutt Valley Trade Waste Bylaw attached as Appendix 
1 to the report; and 

(iv) recommends to Upper Hutt City Council and Hutt City Council that they approve the 
Hutt Valley Services Committee establishing a subcommittee at its meeting on 6 May 
2016, to hear submissions on the draft Bylaw, and to recommend the appropriate policy 
and bylaw to both Councils for consideration and approval.ó 
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6. PROJECT PENCARROW PROGRESS REPORT 

23 OCTOBER 2015 - 19 JANUARY 2016 (16/79) 

Report No. HVSC2016/1/20 by the Wastewater Contracts Manager, Wellington Water  

 The Chief Executive, HCC elaborated on the report.  He confirmed that the Main 
Collecting Sewer, between Barber Grove pump station and the Seaview treatment plant, 
project had been deferred.  He said this would enable the project to be considered with 
other strategic projects that Wellington Water Limited was undertaking.  

 
RESOLVED: Minute No. HVSC 161 04 

òThat the Committee notes the progress on Project Pencarrow as outlined in the report.ó 

 

7. HUTT VALLEY TRUNK WA STEWATER SERVICES FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2015 (16/80) 

Report No. HVSC2016/1/1 by the Financial Accounting Manager , Hutt City Council  

 The Financial Accounting Manager elaborated on the report. 

 
RESOLVED: Minute No. HVSC 161 05 

òThat the Committee: 

(i) notes the financial statements for the Hutt Valley Trunk Wastewater Services for the period 
ended 31 December 2015; and 

(ii)  notes a break-even position has been achieved against a full year break-even budget.ó 

 

8. SILVERSTREAM LANDFIL L UPDATE  (16/81) 

Report No. HVSC2016/1/34 by the Landfill Consultant, Tonkin and Taylor  

 The Chief Executive, HCC elaborated on the report.  He informed members that Hutt 
City Council had brought forward expenditure on the additional air space work and had 
adjusted its budget accordingly.  

 
RESOLVED: Minute No. HVSC 161 06 

òThat the Committee notes the progress at Silverstream Landfill.ó 
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9. AKATARAWA CEMETERY U PDATE  (16/82) 

Report No. HVSC2016/1/35 by the  Parks and Reserves Manager, Upper Hutt City 
Council  

 The Chair informed members he had a recent discussion with the Parks and Reserves 
Manager, UHCC, who advised that UHCC were managing the design phase for the 
extension of the cemetery.  He further informed members that two initiatives, eco -burials 
and cultural buria ls, were currently being investigated.  

 
RESOLVED: Minute No. HVSC 161 07  

òThat the Committee notes the Akatarawa Cemetery Update.ó 

 

10. DOG CONTROL UPDATE  (16/83) 

Report No. HVSC2016/1/21 by the Divisional Manager, Regulatory Services , Hutt City 
Council  

 The Divisional Manager, Regulatory Services elaborated on the report.  He informed 
members that the HCC Dog Control Bylaw came into effect on 8 February 2016.  He 
advised that public consultation in relation to a fenced dog park at McEwen Park in 
Lower H utt would commence shortly.  

Members asked that future reports include a brief overview about any issues arising in 
the previous months and the relationship between the Councilsõ Animal Control 
divisions.  

In response to a question from a member, the Divisional Manager, Regulatory Services 
advised that on average 70 dogs were impounded each month.   

 
RESOLVED: Minute No. HVSC 161 08 

òThat the Committee notes the Dog Control Update.ó 

 

11. DOG CONTROL UPDATE  (16/84) 

Report No. HVSC2016/1/36 by the Compliance Services Manger, Upper Hutt City 
Council  

 
RESOLVED: Minute No. HVSC 161 09 

òThat the Committee notes the Dog Control Update.ó 
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12. HEALTH OFFICE ACTIVI TIES UPDATE  (16/85)  

Report No. HVSC2016/1/22 by the Divisional Manager, Regulatory Services, Hutt City 
Council  

 The Divisional Manager, Regulatory Services elaborated on the report.  He advised that 
participation in the Food Control Plan (FCP) had been voluntary but now all businesses 
were required to have a FCP in place by 2018.  He said as a result of this, HCC had 
employed two contractors to assist with the increased workload.  

In response to a question from a member, the Divisional Manager, Regulatory Services 
advised that a bylaw covering tattoo parlours and sunbed operators would be 
investigated in early 2017. 

 
RESOLVED: Minute No. HVSC 161 10 

òThat the Committee notes the Health Office Activities Update.ó 

 

13. REGIONAL JOINT SERVI CES OPPORTUNITIES  

Mayor Guppy advised that the two areas where the Local Government Commission 
considered there was scope for joint initiatives were Roading and Transport and Spatial 
Planning. 

The Chief Executive, HCC said that an updated schedule of existing shared services 
between Hutt and Upper Hutt City Councils had been drafted and once finalised would 
be reported to the Committee.  

   

14. QUESTIONS   

 There were no questions. 
 
 
There being no further business the Chair declared the meeting closed at 10.10 am. 

 
 
 

Cr A Finlayson  
CHAIR  

 
 
 
CONFIRMED as a true and correct record  
Dated this 15th day of March 2016  
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Hutt Valley Services Committee  

16 March 2016 

 
 
 

File: (16/324) 

 
 

 
 
Report no: HVSC2016/2/65 

 

Proposed Hutt Valley Trade Waste Bylaw 2016  

 

Purpose of Report 

1. This report proposes that the Committee recommend to both Councils 
that they consult on the proposed Hutt Valley Trade Wastes Bylaw 2016 
using the special consultative procedure set out in section 83 of the Local 
Government Act 2002. 

Recommendations 

That the Committee: 

(i) notes that Upper Hutt City and Hutt City Councils resolved at their 
 meetings held on 6 April 2016 and 15 March 2016 respectively to approve 
 the Hutt Valley Services Committee establishing a subcommittee to hear 
 submissions on the proposed amendments to the Hutt Valley Trade 
 Wastes Bylaw 2016 and recommend the appropriate action to both 
 Councils for consideration and approval;  

(ii)  establishes and appoin ts members to a Hutt Valley Trade Wastes 
 BylawSubcommittee; and 

(iii ) recommends that Upper Hutt City Council and Hutt City Council agrees 
 to consult  on the Summary of Information and Statement of 
 Proposal, attached as Appendix 1 to the report, and the  proposed Hutt 
 Valley Trade Wastes Bylaw 2016, attached as Appendix 3 to the report, in 
 accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2002 by 
 means of a special consultative procedure. 

 

Background 

2. Section 158 of the Local Government Act 2002 requires all Councils to 
review their existing bylaws within 10 years of the previous review.  The 
current Hutt Valley Trade Wastes Bylaw was enacted in 2006 and now 
needs reviewing. 
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3. The proposed new Trade Wastes Bylaw 2016 meets the requirements of 
the Local Government Act 2002, establishes standards for trade waste 
discharges and facilitates the management, on behalf of the Hutt City 
Council and th e Upper Hutt City Council, of the acceptance of trade 
wastes into the public wastewater system. The bylaw will apply 
throughout the districts of both the Hutt City Council and the Upper Hutt 
City Council.  

4. At the last Committee meeting it was recommended  to both Councilõs 
that the Hutt Valley Services Committee be delegated the responsibility to 
appoint a Subcommittee to hear submissions on the proposed Hutt Valley 
Trade Wastes Bylaw 2016 and then recommend the appropriate action to 
both Councilõs for consideration and approval.  Both Councils have 
agreed with this course of action.  The Committee will now need to 
appoint the members to this Subcommittee at its May meeting. 

Discussion 

5. The proposed draft bylaw does not propose any significant changes with 
respect to what is ultimately discharged into the environment.  This 
review has provided the opportunity to update the 2006 bylaw to meet 
best practice and associated standards and regional consistency.   The 
draft bylaw is based on the New Zealand Standard Model General Bylaw, 
Part 23 Trade Wastes.  Appendix 1 contains a table showing current 
clauses, proposed changes and the reasons for the proposed changes.  

Options 

6. The establishment of a bylaw is the only option available to both Councils 
to establish and maintain the appropriate legal and operational 
framework for the treatment of trade wastes in the Hutt Valley.  

Consultation 

7. A timeline outlining the steps that needed to be taken when developing 
the proposed trade wastes bylaw was included in the agenda of the 
Committeeõs 4 March meeting and noted by the Committee. 

8. Staff advised the Committee that they would be contacting license 
holders to let them know about the bylaw review and what was going to 
happen.  This enabled staff to answer any questions license holders had 
before formal notice of the review is sent to them.  

9. Pre-consultation with the Port Nicholson Block Settlement Trust to advise 
them of this review has been undertaken.   

10. All other consultation requirements were also n oted in the timeline 
reported to the Committee.  Staff are now planning how best to undertake 
these other consultation requirements.  

Legal Considerations 

11. This review meets the requirements of the Local Government Act 2002, 
with respect to reviewing th e existing Hutt Valley Trade Wastes Bylaw 
2006. 
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Financial Considerations 

12. There are no financial considerations to note at this point. 

Other Considerations 

13. In making this recommendation, officers have given careful consideration 
to the purpose of local government in section 10 of the Local Government 
Act 2002. Officers believe that this recommendation falls within the 
purpose of the local government in that it meets the current and future 
needs of the Hutt Valley with respect to the management of tra de wastes.   
It does this in a way that is cost-effective because it ensures the current 
treatment system can continue to legally operate under the provisions of a 
Trade Wastes Bylaw.  

Appendices 

No. Title  Page 

1  Summary and Statement of Proposal - Hutt Valley Trade Wastes 
Bylaw 2016 

11 

2  2016 Hutt Valley Trade Wastes Bylaw review:  Summary Table 21 

3  DRAFT Hutt Valley Trade Wastes Bylaw 2016 36 

      
 

  
 
Author: Graham Sewell 
Principal Policy Advisor  
 
 
 

 
 
 
Reviewed By: Bradley Cato 
Solicitor 
 
 
 
Reviewed By: Wendy Moore  
Divisional Manager, Strategy and Planning  
 
 
 
Approved By: Kim Kelly  
General Manager, Strategic Services 
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Summary and Statement of Proposal  
 

 

Summary ð Hutt Valley Trade Wastes Bylaw 2016  

 

The purpose of making this proposed new Hutt Valley Trade Wastes Bylaw 2016 is to: 

¶ meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 2002; 

¶  establish standards for trade waste discharges; and  

¶ facilitate the management of the acceptance of trade wastes into the public waste 
water system on behalf of the Hutt City Council and the Upper Hutt City 
Council.  

The bylaw will apply throughout the districts of Hutt City Council and Upper Hutt City 
Council.  

The proposed draft bylaw makes no significant changes with respect to what ultimately 
is discharged into the environment.  This review has provided the opportunity to update 
the 2006 bylaw to meet best practice and associated standards and regional consistency.  

Hutt City Council and Upper Hutt City Council  are seeking submissions on the 
proposed bylaw.  The full statement of proposal to revoke the current Hutt Valley Trade 
Waste Bylaw 2006 and make the proposed Bylaw is attached to this summary of 
information, along with a submission form.  It is also avail able at: 

 

¶ the Hutt City Council Administration Building, 30 Laings Road, Lower Hutt, 
Libraries and Service Centres and on the Council Website www.huttcity.govt.nz .  
; or 

¶ the Upper Hutt City Council Offices 838 ð 842 Fergusson Drive, Upper Hutt  and 
on the Council Website www.upperhuttcity.com    

 

 

Submissions open on 8 June and close at 4.00pm on Tuesday 9 August.    
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HUTT CITY COUNCIL &  
 

UPPER HUTT CITY COUNCIL  

 
 
 
 
 

FULL STATEMENT OF PROPOSAL  

 
 

TO MAKE THE HUTT VALLEY TRADE WASTES BYLAW  
2016 

 
AND REVOKE THE HUTT VALLEY TRADE WASTES BYLAW 

2006. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

June  2016 
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1.  Introduction  
 
The Upper Hutt City Council and Hutt City Council propose to replace the current Hutt 
Valley Trade Waste Bylaw 2006 (ò2006 Bylawó) with a new Hutt Valley Trade Wastes Bylaw 
2016 (òproposed Bylawó).  
 
This Statement of Proposal has been prepared in accordance with section 86 of the Local 
Government Act 2002 (the LGA 2002) and provides information about the review process 
and whether it is appropriate to have a  Trade Wastes Bylaw for the Hutt Valley within the 
districts of the Upper Hutt City Council and Hutt City Council.  
 
2.  Background  
 
2.1  Relevant legislation  
  
Currently the 2006 Bylaw establishes standards for trade waste discharges into the public 
waste water system.  Such a bylaw is necessary to ensuring the proper operation of the 
public sewerage system and to manage trade waste which is discharged into it. 
   
Part 8 of the LGA 2002 provides powers for local authorities for the making of bylaws.  The 
Act contains general bylaw making provisions and provisions that are specific to bylaws 
controlling trade wastes.  
 
Under section 146 of the LGA 2002, a territorial authority may make bylaws for its district 
for the purpose of prohibiting or otherwise regulating or controlling, trade wastes.  
 
Additionally, section 48 of the Hutt Valley Drainage Act 1967 also empowers Hutt City 
Council to make trade waste bylaws for the districts of Upper Hutt City and Hutt City.  
Under s 200 of Part XII of the Local Government (Wellington Region) Reorganisation Order 
1989, Hutt City Council assumed responsibility for the sewerage system in the Hutt Valley.  
 
References to òthe Counciló in this Statement of Proposal is a reference to either the Hutt 
City Council in relatio n to its role in regulating and managing trade wastes in the Hutt 
Valley under the Hutt Valley Drainage Act 1967 and/or the Upper City Council and the 
Hutt City Council, as the context requires.  
 
2.2  Councilsõ role in relation to the collection and treatment of waste water  
 
Historically local authorities in New Zealand have been responsible for the collection and 
disposal of waste water, this being sourced from domestic and trade waste discharges.  As 
New Zealand has developed so has the need to treat waste in an environmentally 
sustainable way.  It is an essential service needed as a consequence of human habitation. 
 
The Councilsõ legal role in relation to the collection and treatment of waste water can be 
traced back to the Hutt Valley Drainage Act 1948.  This established the Hutt Valley Drainage 
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Board.  The 1948 Act was further amended and consolidated with the enactment of the Hutt 
Valley Drainage Act 1967.   This in turn led to the creation of the Hutt Valley Trade Waste 
Bylaw in 1974 ð which was update d with the establishment of the Hutt Valley Trade Waste 
Bylaw in 1997.  The new treatment plant was opened in 2001.  The 1997 Bylaw was then 
reviewed and the current Hutt Valley Trade Waste Bylaw 2006 was established. 
 
Hutt City Council and Upper Hutt City  Council also have a commitment to achieving 
citywide outcomes identified by their communities.   
 
Community Outcomes are set out at page 7 of the Hutt City Councilõs Shaping our City Long 
Term Plan for Hutt City 2015 ð 2026.  Two of the community outcomes  are a strong and 
diverse economy and a healthy natural environment.   In order to help to achieve this goal it 
is considered necessary to have in place a public system for the collection, treatment and 
discharge of waste water in a safe manner.   
 
In Upper Hutt City Councilõs Long Term Plan 2015-25, it is noted on page 46, that the 
wastewater activity directly supports the achievement of a number of strategic objectives. By 
providing an efficient wastewater disposal system the Council aims to safeguard pub lic 
health, and the environment, and support the economic growth of the city.     
  
3.  Local Government Act 2002 
 
3.1  Relevant legislation  
  
The Councils are required to review the current bylaw relating to trade wastes before 
August  2016 under section 158 of the Local Government Act 2002 (òLGA 2002ó).  
  

Under sections 159 and 155, the review of a bylaw must take the form of reconsideration of 

the matters that the Councils are normally required to consider before making a bylaw.  
 

The Councils must therefore determine whether a bylaw is the most appropriate way of 

addressing the perceived problem.  If so, the Councils must determine whether the 

proposed Bylaw is the most appropriate form of bylaw, and whether the proposed Bylaw 

gives rise to any implications under the New Zealand Bill of Rights Act 1990 (òNZBORAó).  

No bylaw can be inconsistent with the NZBORA.  In reviewing a bylaw, the Councils must 

use the special consultative procedure set out in section 83 and comply with the procedures 

in section 148. 

Under section 145, the Councils may make bylaws for its district with the purposes of:  

(a) protecting the public from nuisance;  

(b) protecting, promoting, and maintaining public health and safety;  

(c) minimising the potential for offensive behaviour  in public places. 
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The 2006 Bylaw can be viewed by visiting the Councilõs website:  

www.huttcity.govt.nz  

www.upperhuttcity.com  

 
3.2  The perceived problem  
 
The Hutt Valley produces on average about 50 million litres of waste water daily, of which 5 
mil lion litres is trade waste coming from a wide variety of businesses.  This waste water 
needs to be collected, treated and disposed of in an environmentally acceptable way and in a 
manner which does not affect the health and safety of members of the public.  Improperly 
treated sewerage discharged into the sea has resulted in the past to the closure of beaches 
and restrictions being placed on the collection of shell fish. 
 
The Hutt City Council operates the Hutt Valley sewerage system, which collects, treats and 
disposes of sewage and trade waste from business, trade and other activities in the Hutt 
Valley.  It is vital to the proper operation of the public waste water system that there are 
standards in place coupled with effective monitoring processes.   This ensures that the 
appropriate volumes and types of discharge entering the system can be processed and 
discharged to meet environmental standards.  
 
A failure to control the disposal of trade waste into the sewerage system may lead to a 
disruption of the tr eatment process at the treatment plant.  
 
Further, failure to meet bylaw standards would place both the Hutt City and Upper City 
Councils in breach of the resource consent associated with its treatment plant.   
 

The perceived problem means that a trade waste bylaw is consistent with the provisions in 

the LGA 2002 relating to the Councilsõ bylaw-making powers.  The Councilsõ consider that it 

is necessary to have a trade waste bylaw for the purposes of: 

¶ protecting, promoting and maintaining public health and safety (section 145(b)); 

¶ regulating trade wastes (s146(a)(iii)); 

¶ managing, regulating against or protecting from, damage, misuse, or loss, or preventing 

the use of the land, structures, or infrastructure associated with reserves or other land 

under  the control of the territorial authority (section 146(b)(vi)).  

The Councilsõ therefore propose to make the proposed Bylaw to regulate the disposal of 

trade waste through the sewerage system.  The proposed Bylaw is intended to ensure 

adequate controls and monitoring are retained to meet public expectations of the Councilõs 

role in protecting, promoting and maintaining public health and safety; in regulating the 

disposal of trade waste; and in protecting its infrastructure in the Hutt Valley.  
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3.3  Most appropriate way to address the perceived problem  
 
Non-regulatory 
  

The Bylaw is proposed because non-regulatory methods like voluntary compliance and 

education cannot be relied on to address the perceived problem.  Educative measures may 

not reach everyone, nor may they provide an effective deterrent to everyone.  In these 

circumstances, the activities have an effect on the general public, property, and the 

environment which means it is necessary for the Council to have a greater ability to enforce 

it s policies and practices.   

Other regulatory options 

In addition to the proposed Bylaw, other regulations will apply to the discharge of trade 
wastes, like the Health Act 1956, Hutt Valley Drainage Act 1967, the Hazardous Substances 

and New Organisms Act 1996 and the Resource Management Act 1991.  As these regulations 

do not cover all of the matters and situations dealt with in the proposed Bylaw, the Council 

considers that it would be appropriate to make the proposed Bylaw in order to address the 

perceived problem.   
 

The Council considers that while most of the provisions in the Bylaw have the potential to 

be covered by common law remedies, such as the tort of public nuisance and the tort of 

negligence, it is preferable for the Council to retain provisions  in the Bylaw for these matters.  

There are difficulties with seeking a remedy in tort.  First, an action for public nuisance can 

result in compensation for property damage only, and will therefore have a limited 

deterrent effect when compared with the fin es that may be proposed for breach of a bylaw.  

Second, it is procedurally more complicated for the Council to bring proceedings in tort than 

to bring proceedings for breach of a bylaw. 

The proposed Bylaw may provide the Council with an alternative prosecu tion option in 

cases where the Bylaw is breached, depending on the circumstances. 

 

In summary, the Council does not consider that non -regulatory actions are able to address 

the perceived problem to the extent necessary.  In addition, other measures may not be 

appropriate in every instance. The Council considers that the proposed Bylaw is the most 

appropriate way to address the perceived problem.   

 
3.4 Most appropriate form of bylaw  
 

The proposed Bylaw addresses the perceived problem by preventing a number of unwanted 

consequences from the disposal of trade waste. 
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The proposed Bylaw is flexible and allows changing circumstances to be recognised.  In 

some instances, the Council must take into account several matters specified by the Bylaw in 

the exercise of the Councilõs discretion, for example, in respect of conditions on permissions 

granted for certain discharges.  The Council will consider whether it is necessary to consult 

with specified persons with respect to certain matters.  

The proposed Bylaw clearly states the Councilõs position by stating whether or not a 

discharge is permitted or prohibited.  The proposed Bylaw sets out what action needs to be 

taken to comply with it, for example, whether prior written permission of the Council is 

required.  It also sets out some considerations that will be taken into account in granting 

consents. 

The proposed Bylaw reflects a number of the Councilõs existing policies and practices, and 

also reflects community goals that have been identified by the Councils. 

The proposed Bylaw is clearer and more up to date than the 2006 Bylaw.  The style is 

consistent with other parts of the Hutt City Council Bylaws.  The proposed Bylaw is still 

based on the New Zealand Standard Model Trade Waste Bylaw (NZS 9201 Part 23: 2004). 

The proposed Bylaw is therefore the most appropriate form of bylaw.  It clearly states the 

Councilõs position on each issue, how the Bylaw can be complied with, reflects the Councilõs 

existing policies and practices, and addresses the perceived problem. 

 
 
3.5 NZ Bill of Rights implications  
 
The Council must determine whether the proposed Hutt Valley Trade Waste Bylaw gives 
rise to any implications under the New Zealand Bill of Rights Act 1990 (NZBORA).    
 
Council has obtained legal advice concerning this matter.  The advice received noted that 
there was no obvious infringement of, or implications in respect of, any of the civil or 
political rights under Part 2 of the New Zealand Bill of Rights Act 1990.   

 
4.  The Bylaw review  
 
The proposed Hutt Valley Tra de Wastes Bylaw 2016 is a new bylaw, based on the New 
Zealand Standard Model Trade Waste Bylaw (NZS 9201 Part 23: 2004) and will replace the 
existing 2006 bylaw also made under the Local Government Act 2002.  The modifications 
that occurred during the deve lopment of this bylaw are summarised below.  
 
4.1.  Modifications  
 
Attached as Appendix 1 is a table showing current clauses, proposed changes and reasons 
for proposed changes.  
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4.2 Explaination of the proposed Bylaw content  
 
In general terms the proposed bylaw addresses the perceived problem (as outlined in 3.1 
above) by regulating the discharge of trade wastes to the sewerage system operated by or on 
behalf of Hutt City Council and Upper Hutt City Council.  The following outlines the 
rational for the in clusion of each section in the proposed bylaw.   
 
Section 1.  Introduction  
This section establishes the specific purpose and scope of the bylaw and identifies the trade 
premises and other users to which the bylaw applies. 
 
Section 2.  Compliance with the bylaw  
The purpose of this section is to outline the way wastes can be discharged into the sewerage 
system and how hazardous or harmful materials shall be handled, transported or stored.  
 
Section 3.  Trade Waste discharges and consents 
This section outlines the processes involved with applying and maintaining a trade waste 
discharge consent ð to enable a business or person to discharge waste water into the 
sewerage system. 
 
Section 4.  Trade Waste approval criteria  
This section is necessary to deal with some of the specific technical issues concerning the 
treatment of trade waste as it relates to waste water quality, mass loadings and other 
particular characteristics. 
 
Section 5.  Sampling, testing and monitoring  
The purpose of this section is to establish the role and responsibilities of the Waste Water 
Authority (WWA, being Hutt City Council) and consent holders with respect to flow 
metering, estimating discharge, monitoring, sampling and analysis.  To operate the WWAõs 
wastewater treatment plant to meet resource consent requirements, it is essential to maintain 
an ongoing regime of sampling, testing and monitoring.   
 
Section 6.  Bylaw administration  
With the operation of the sewerage system there are a number of administrative matters that 
need to be established to ensure the proper operation of the service.  This section is 
necessary to establish the rights and responsibilities of the WWA and any affected party 
with respect to matters like:  

¶ What is to happen in the event of any accident that results in a breach of the bylaw. 

¶ Charging consent holders for services rendered by the WWA. 

¶ WWA staff to possess and produce their warrants of authority and evidence of 
identity.  

¶ Transfer or termination of rights and responsibilities of a consent holder.  

¶ Service of documents on a consent holder 

¶ Offences created when breaching the bylaw 

¶ Transitional provisions that may apply when this bylaw takes effect and the current 
Hutt Valley Trade Wastes Bylaw 2006 is revoked. 
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4.3  Enforcement  
 
The Hutt Valley Trunk Wastewater System serves both Upper Hutt City Council and Hutt 
City Council.  The day to day management and operation of the waste water system is 
undertaken by the Hutt City Council.    
 
 
4.4 Fees  
 
 Currently fees charged reflect a user-pays philosophy.   
 
It is not proposed to increase these charges with the review of the existing 2006 Bylaw.  
Administrative and trade waste user charges are calculated and then charged to each 
licensed user.   
  
Fees and charges are set by Council resolution.  This is done through the Long Term Council 
Plan, Annual Plan or other suitable process in accordance with the LGA 2002. 
 

5. Process for the development of the proposed bylaw  
 
The special consultative procedure will end 4.00pm on Tuesday 9 August 2016. Hearings 
and meetings on the proposed bylaw will be open to the public, and people may speak to 
their submissions at the relevant committee meeting. 
 
The proposed bylaw will then be referred to the Hutt City Council  and Upper Hutt City 
Council for consideration and adoption.  
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Appendix 1: 
 
2016 HV Trade Wastes Bylaw review 
 
Table showing current clauses, proposed changes and reasons for proposed change. 
 
NB: This review does not change anything significant with respect to what is discharged into the ŜƴǾƛǊƻƴƳŜƴǘΦ  ¢ƘŜ ǊŜǾƛŜǿ Ƙŀǎ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜŘ ōƻǘƘ /ƻǳƴŎƛƭΩǎ ǿƛǘƘ 
the opportunity to update the 2006 Bylaw to meet best practice and associated standards and regional consistency. 
 
Some of the more notable changes include: 
 

¶ The layout and text is now very similar to the new Wellington City Council trade wastes bylaw which was developed recently by a multi-party group 
(including HCC) to form the basis of a regional model  trade wastes bylaw based upon the 2004 Model TW bylaw.  Including some changes believed 
worthǿƘƛƭŜ ōŀǎŜŘ ǳǇƻƴ ǘƘŜ Ǉŀǎǘ мл ȅŜŀǊǎΩ ŜȄǇŜǊƛŜƴŎŜ ƘŜǊŜ ŀƴŘ ŜƭǎŜǿƘŜǊŜ ŀƴŘ ƛƳǇǊƻǾŜƳŜƴǘǎ ƴƻǘŜŘ ƛƴ ōȅƭŀǿǎ ǎǳŎƘ ŀǎ /ƘǊƛǎǘŎƘǳǊŎƘ /ƛǘȅ /ƻǳƴŎƛƭΩǎΦ 

 

¶ The changes do not increase the likelihood of enforcement actions occurring, should not create additional costs for dischargers, do not create 
additional fees, should not require additional actions from dischargers and will provide a more transparent option for dischargers to be exempt 
from the consenting regime. 
 

¶ the addition of a 4th ŎƭŀǎǎƛŦƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ŘƛǎŎƘŀǊƎŜΣ άtŜǊƳƛǘǘŜŘέ ŀƴŘ ǊŜƴŀƳƛƴƎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŦƻǊƳŜǊ ά!ŎŎŜǇǘŀōƭŜέ ŎƭŀǎǎƛŦƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ ōŜŎƻƳŜ ά/ƻƴǘǊƻƭƭŜŘέ Φ ¢Ƙƛǎ 
addition better copes with allowing minor discharges without consent being needed than the current bylaw provisions. 

 

¶ Suspended Solids and Oil/Grease levels have been lowered and the minimum pH raised slightly. This aligns those levels to the new WCC bylaw and 
what is now seen as national best practice. The practical implication of these changes upon dischargers should be negligible. Metals levels, general 
chemical characteristics and organic compounds levels are unchanged. 
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Table of changes.  
 

2006 
Bylaw 
reference 

Current TW bylaw (2006) Proposed change Reasoning 

Part 1 Introduction section ( Introduction, Commencement 
and application, Revocation and Scope of the bylaw) 
 

Split to become Introduction, title, 
Commencement and application, Purpose of 
the bylaw, Revocation and Scope. 

Changed layout but no substantive 
changes to scope. More clearly notes 
the benefit to stormwater quality 
from management of trade wastes 
discharges (less overflows) 

1.3.2 Compliance with other Acts 1.5.2 updated with new legislation updated with new legislation 

1.5 
Definitions 

Acceptable Trade Waste Discharge wŜǇƭŀŎŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ άŎƻƴǘǊƻƭƭŜŘ ǘǊŀŘŜ ǿŀǎǘŜέ Classification title changed but 
essentially the same discharger 
under the same parameters 

 Consent wŜǇƭŀŎŜŘ ōȅ ά¢ǊŀŘŜ ǿŀǎǘŜ ŘƛǎŎƘŀǊƎŜ ŎƻƴǎŜƴǘέ 
definition 

Term change to align with regional 
model, no real change. 

 No definition Cƻǳƭ ǿŀǘŜǊΩ ƳŜŀƴǎ ǘƘŜ ŘƛǎŎƘŀǊƎŜ ŦǊƻƳ ŀƴȅ 
sanitary fixture 

Added to improve certainty. 

 none 'Office of Radiation Safety Guidelines' means 
the latest edition, complete with any 
amendments of Code of safe practice for the 
use of unsealed radioactive materials. 
 

Added to reflect the change from the 
National radiation Safety laboratory 

  ΨtŜǊƳƛǘǘŜŘ ǘǊŀŘŜ ǿŀǎǘŜϥ ƳŜŀƴǎ ŀ trade waste 
discharge that complies with all the physical 
and chemical characteristics set out in 
Schedule 1 and does not exceed the maximum 
permitted volume of trade waste of 100L/day. 
 

New classification added ς will 
permit discharges without consent 

 Not defined separately to schedule ΨtǊƻƘƛōƛǘŜŘ ǘǊŀŘŜ ǿŀǎǘŜΩ ƳŜŀƴǎ ŀ trade waste 
having physical and chemical characteristics as 
defined in Schedule 2 of this Bylaw.  A 

Added for clarity and consistency 
with Regional model 
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prohibited trade waste discharge cannot be 
undertaken and no consent can be sought for 
a prohibited trade waste discharge. 

 Not defined tǳōƭƛŎƭȅ ƴƻǘƛŦƛŜŘΩ ƳŜŀƴǎ ǇǳōƭƛǎƘŜŘ ƻƴ ŀǘ ƭŜŀǎǘ 
one occasion in a newspaper circulating in the 
/ƻǳƴŎƛƭΩǎ district, or under emergency 
conditions by the most practical means 
available at that time. 
 

Added for clarity and consistency 
with Regional model 

 Not defined ΨwŜŎŜƛǾƛƴƎ ǿŀǘŜǊǎΩ ƳŜŀƴǎ Ŏƻŀǎǘŀƭ ǿŀǘŜǊǎ ƻǊ 
any natural waters which will receive treated 
wastes. 
 

Added for clarity and consistency 
with Regional model 

 Not defined Ψ{ŜǿŀƎŜ ǎƭǳŘƎŜΩ ƳŜŀƴǎ ǘƘŜ ƳŀǘŜǊƛŀƭ ǎŜǘǘƭŜŘ 
out from wastewater during the treatment 
process. 

Added to ensure clarity from 
biosolids. 

 SEWERAGE SYSTEM means the system for the 
collection, treatment and disposal of sewage and 
trade wastes, including all sewers, pumping stations, 
storage tanks, sewage treatment plants, outfalls, 
and other related structures operated by the WWA 
and used for the reception, treatment and disposal 
of trade wastes. 

Ψ{ŜǿŜǊΩ ƳŜŀƴǎ ǘƘŜ ǇƛǇŜǿƻǊƪ ŘǊŀƛƴŀƎŜ ǎȅǎǘŜƳ 
that conveys wastewater. 
Ψ²ŀǎǘŜǿŀǘŜǊ ǎȅǎǘŜƳΩ ƳŜŀƴǎ ŀƭƭ ǎŜǿŜǊǎΣ 
pumping stations, storage tanks, wastewater 
treatment plants, sea outfalls and other 
related structures owned by the WWA and 
used for the reception, treatment and disposal 
of wastewater. 

 

Covered by 2 definitions in the 
proposed bylaw 

2.11 2.1.1 Restrictions on discharges of trade waste 
 

2.1.1 Restrictions on discharges of trade 
waste 
 

Additional point to cope with new 
permitted classification. No 
consequence and aligns with new 
WCC bylaw. 

 

3.1 3.1 CLASSIFICATION OF TRADE WASTE DISCHARGES 

3.1.1 Classification 

3.1 CLASSIFICATION OF TRADE WASTE 
DISCHARGES 
Trade waste discharges shall be classified as 

A change from 2006 classifications to 
use the more standard terms but 
allows for a classification of permitted 
for which consent is not required. It is 
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Trade Waste discharges shall be classified as one of 

the following types: 

 

(a) Acceptable (consent may be required by the 

WWA); or 

 

(b) Conditional (consent is required from the WWA, 

subject to conditions); or 

 

(c) Prohibited (not consentable). 

 

one of the following types: 
(a) Permitted trade waste - a trade waste 

discharge consent is not required 
provided that the discharge complies 
with all the physical and chemical 
characteristics set out in Schedule 1 
and does not exceed a maximum 
volume of trade waste of 100L/day. 

(b) Controlled trade waste - trade waste 
that complies with all the physical and 
chemical characteristics set out in 
Schedule 1 and has a maximum 
volume of trade waste of more than 
100L/day but less than 5000L/day. 

(c) Conditional trade waste - trade waste 
that does not comply with one or 
more of the physical and chemical 
characteristics set out in Schedule 1 
but which does not have any 
characteristics of a prohibited trade 
waste defined in Schedule 2. 
Conditional trade waste discharge 
consents shall include consents for 
temporary discharges. 

(d) Prohibited trade waste - trade waste 
that has, or is likely to have, any of the 
physical and chemical characteristics as set out 
in Schedule 2 of this Bylaw.  A prohibited trade 
waste discharge cannot be undertaken and no 
consent can be sought for a prohibited trade 
waste discharge.   

a better way of coping with smaller 
premises that technically are 
dischargers but no useful purpose is 
served by consenting them.  Goes 
from Acceptable, conditional and 
prohibited to permitted, controlled, 
conditional and prohibited. For most 
people only the name changes. 

 

3.1.2 3.1.2 No obligation 
The WWA is not obliged to accept any trade waste.  

Not needed Not needed and not consistent with 
permitted classification. 



Attachment 2  2016 Hutt Valley Trade Wastes Bylaw review:  Summary Table  

 

 

DEM11-10-4 - 16/324 - Proposed Hutt Valley Trade Waste Bylaw 2016 Page  25 
 

No application for a trade waste discharge consent 
shall be approved where the trade waste discharge 
would contain, or is likely to contain, any of the 
characteristics as defined in Schedule 1B. 
 

5.4.8 Not located here, presently located 5.4.8 Tankered Wastes section now 3.2.2 Relocated section to more logical 
place in Bylaw, no change to content 

 No equivalent 3.3 CONSENT IF DISCHARGE ALTERS FROM A 
PERMITTED TRADE WASTE DISCHARGE  
The WWA may at any time require a person 
discharging trade waste as a permitted trade 
waste discharge to apply for a trade waste 
discharge consent in accordance with clause 
3.2 if that discharge ceases to be a permitted 
trade waste discharge and is not a prohibited 
trade waste discharge. 

New section as per new WCC bylaw 
ǘƻ ŎƻǾŜǊ ǘƘŜ ŀŘŘƛǘƛƻƴŀƭ άtŜǊƳƛǘŜŘέ 
classifications needs. 

 No equivalent section in old bylaw 3.7 COMPLIANCE WAIVER 
3.7.1 Application to waive need for trade 

waste discharge consent 
An application to the WWA can be made to 
waive compliance with the requirement to 
obtain a trade waste discharge consent under 
this Bylaw on the basis that due to the nature, 
volume or other circumstance/characteristic, it 
would needlessly affect the operation of any 
business or cause inconvenience to any 
person, without any corresponding reduction 
of impact on the operation of the wastewater 
system. 
 
3.7.2 Decision of WWA 
On receipt of an application under clause 
3.7.1, the WWA may: 

Allows for the WWA to waive 
consent ς Permitted dischargers. 
Currently that ability is not clearly 
allowed. 
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(a) Waive the need to observe 
requirement for a trade waste 
discharge consent under this Bylaw, 
and  

(b) Impose such other terms or conditions 
consistent with the intention and 
purpose of the Bylaw as the WWA may 
think fit. 

 

3.7 Conditions of trade waste consent 3.8 CONDITIONS OF TRADE WASTE CONSENT 
(u) tǊƻǾƛǎƛƻƴ ŦƻǊ /ƻǳƴŎƛƭΩǎ ƳƻƴƛǘƻǊƛƴƎ 
costs to be recovered. 
 

Additional point which more clearly 
covers actions currently written into 
consents, to provide  greater 
transparency. 

3.8 
Duration 
 

3.8.1 Acceptable discharges 
Subject to clauses 2.1.2, 3.9, 3.10 and 6.1, 
acceptable discharge consents shall remain in force 
until they expire at the end of the term prescribed in 
the consent. 
3.8.2 Conditional consents 
Subject to clauses 2.1.2, 3.9, 3.10 and 6.1, 
conditional discharge consents shall remain in force 
until they expire at the end of the term prescribed in 
the consent, being a term of no more than two 
years, provided that the consent may be granted for 
a term not exceeding five years where a consent 
holder at the time of application satisfies the WWA 
that: 
 
(a) The nature of the trade activity, or the 
process design and/or management of the premises 
are such that the consent holder has a demonstrated 
ability to meet the conditions of the consent during 
its term; and/or 

3.9 DURATION OF TRADE WASTE DISCHARGE 
CONSENTS 
Subject to clauses 2.1.2, 3.9, 3.10, 3.11 and 
6.1, controlled and conditional trade waste 
discharge consents shall remain in force until 
they expire at the end of the term prescribed 
in the trade waste discharge consent, being a 
term of no more than two years.  However, 
the trade waste discharge consent may be 
granted for a term not exceeding five years 
where a consent holder, at the time of the 
application, satisfies the WWA that: 
(a) The nature of the trade activity, or the 

process design and/or management of 
the premises are such that the consent 
holder has a demonstrated ability to 
meet the conditions of the trade 
waste discharge consent during its 
term; and/or  

(b) Cleaner production techniques are 

Essentially a re-wording and 
restructure to cover the changed 
consent classifications, no new  
impact 
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(b) Cleaner production techniques are 
successfully being utilized, or that a responsible 
investment in cleaner production equipment or 
techniques is being made; and/or 
 
(c) Significant investment in pre-treatment 
facilities has been made, such that a longer period of 
certainty for the amortization of this investment is 
considered reasonable; and/or 
 
(d) The reissuing of a consent cannot reasonably 
be withheld. 

successfully being utilised, or that a 
responsible investment in cleaner 
production equipment or techniques is 
being made; and/or  

(c) Significant investment in pre-
treatment facilities has been made, 
such that a longer period of certainty 
for the amortization of this investment 
is considered reasonable. 

 

 No equivalent 3.12 TRADE WASTE AGREEMENTS 
 
3.12.1 Written agreement 
The WWA may, at any time and at its 
discretion, enter into a written agreement 
with any trade wastes discharger for the 
discharge and reception of trade wastes into 
the wastewater system. Any such agreement 
will be in place of a trade waste discharge 
consent.  
 
3.12.2 Agreement in force 
Any agreement with the WWA to discharge 
trade waste into the wastewater system which 
was in force immediately prior to the 
commencement of this Bylaw, is, for the 
purpose of this Bylaw, treated as if it were a 
trade waste agreement referred to in sub 
clause (1). 
 

New section, consistent with new 
WCC bylaw and allows for 
alternative contractual type 
agreement with a new major 
discharger should that be wished. 
Increased scope to suit dischargers 
wishes. 
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 Covered in multiple places in current bylaw. 4.1 PRE-TREATMENT 
4.1.1 Appropriate pre-treatment 
The WWA may approve a trade waste 
discharge consent subject to the provision of 
appropriate pre-treatment systems to enable 
the discharger to comply with the Bylaw. Such 
pre-treatment systems shall be provided, 
operated and maintained by the discharger at 
their expense. 
 
4.1.2 Refuse or garbage grinders and 
macerators 
Refuse or garbage grinders and macerators 
shall not be used to dispose of solid waste 
from trade premises to the wastewater system 
unless approved by the WWA. 
 
4.1.3 Additions to trade waste stream 
The consent holder shall not, unless approved 
by the WWA, add or permit the addition of 
any potable, condensing, cooling water or 
stormwater to any trade waste stream in order 
to vary the level of any characteristic of the 
waste. 

Consolidates pre-treatment 
conditions under the proposed 2016  
bylaw. 

5.3 
5.4 
5.4.7 

5.3 SAMPLING AND ANALYSIS 
5.4 MONITORING  
5.4.7  Treatment of samples 
On completion of sampling, each of the samples or 
the composite sample shall be divided into a 
minimum of three equal portions dependent on the 
testing requirements.  If the consent holder: 
 
(a) Makes no requirement under paragraph(b), 

5.3 SAMPLING AND ANALYSIS 
5.4 MONITORING  
5.4.3 Splitting of samples 
Where required, a grab or composite sample 
can be split equally into three as follows: 
(a) One portion of the sample goes to the 

trade waste occupier for appropriate 
analysis and/or storage;  

(b) A second portion of the sample will be 

The proposal is to restructure these 
sections with essentially the same 
content but laid out more logically to 
make it flow better and be more 
transparent.  
 
5.4.7 has been re-worded to better 
represent normal practice nationally 
and to be consistent with the new 
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the samples shall be delivered to the independent 
analyst appointed by the WWA; 
 
(b) Requires in writing, one portion of each 
sample or composite sample shall be delivered to 
the consent holder and at least two portions of each 
sample or composite sample shall be delivered to an 
authorized officer of the WWA or to the 
independent analyst appointed by the WWA; 
 
(c) Has appointed its own independent analyst, 
the consent holder or its independent analyst shall 
receive two portions and the WWA shall, on written 
request, receive one portion of each sample or 
composite sample. 

analysed at a laboratory approved by 
the WWA;  

(c) A third portion of the sample is 
retained by the WWA or an independent 
laboratory for 20 working days, for additional 
analysis if required. 
 

WCC bylaw. 

6.1 6.1 REVIEW OF DECISIONS 6.1 REVIEW OF DECISIONS  Essentially the same, slightly 
different wording which more clearly 
requires a response from the 
authority as soon as reasonably 
practicable. 

6.2 6.2 Accidents and non-compliance 
(a) The person discharging shall inform the 
WWA immediately on discovery of any accident 
including spills or process mishaps which may cause 
a breach of this bylaw or consent under it. 
 
(b) In the event of any accident occurring when 
the person holds a conditional consent, then the 
WWA may review the consent or may require the 
consent holder, within 20 working days of the date 
such requirement is notified to the consent holder in 
writing, to review the contingency management 
procedures and re-submit for approval the 

6.2 ACCIDENTS AND NON-COMPLIANCE  
6.2.1 Notice to WWA 
The consent holder shall inform the WWA 
immediately on discovery of any accident 
including spills or process mishaps which may 
cause a breach of this Bylaw or trade waste 
discharge consent under it.  
 
6.2.2 Trade waste discharge consents 
In the event of any accident occurring when 
the person holds a trade waste discharge 
consent, then the WWA may review the 
consent or may require the consent holder, 

Essentially re-worded and amended 
ǘƻ ŎƻǾŜǊ ǘƘŜ ƴŜǿ άǇŜǊƳƛǘǘŜŘέ 
classification. 



Attachment 2  2016 Hutt Valley Trade Wastes Bylaw review:  Summary Table  

 

 

DEM11-10-4 - 16/324 - Proposed Hutt Valley Trade Waste Bylaw 2016 Page  30 
 

management plan with the WWA.   
 
(c) In the event of an accident occurring on the 
premises of an acceptable discharge, the WWA may 
require the person discharging to apply for a 
conditional consent. 
 

within 20 working days of the date such 
requirement is notified to the consent holder 
in writing, to review the contingency 
management procedures and re-submit for 
approval the discharge management plan with 
the WWA.  
 
6.2.3 Permitted trade waste discharges 
In the event of an accident occurring on the 
premises of a permitted trade waste 
discharge, the WWA may require the person 
discharging to apply for a trade waste 
discharge consent. 

6.3 6.3 CHARGES AND PAYMENTS  
6.3.1 Charges  
The consent holder shall pay all fees and charges 
payable to the WWA for the administration of a 
trade waste consent held by it, and for the 
conveyance, treatment and disposal of trade waste.   
6.3.2 Invoicing 
All charges referred to in clause 6.3.1 or otherwise 
recoverable under this bylaw shall be invoiced in 
ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ²²!Ωǎ ǎǘŀƴŘŀǊŘ ŎƻƳƳŜǊŎƛŀƭ 
practice.  The invoice shall provide each person 
discharging with a copy of the information and 
calculations used to determine the extent of any 
charges and fees due, in regard to a discharge. 
6.3.3 Cease to discharge 
The person discharging shall be deemed to be 
continuing the discharge of trade waste and shall be 
liable for all charges relating to the discharge, until 
written notice of disconnection is given to the WWA 
in accordance with clause 6.5.2. 

6.3 CHARGES AND PAYMENTS  
6.3.1 Setting of fees and charges  
The WWA may, by resolution, prescribe or 
vary fees and charges in respect of any matter 
provided for in this Bylaw.  This includes, but is 
not limited to fees and charges for the 
application process, administration and 
monitoring of trade waste discharge consents 
and for the conveyance, treatment and 
disposal of trade wastes. 
 
6.3.2 Fees and Charges 
The trade waste discharge consent holder and 
any permitted trade waste discharger shall pay 
all fees and charges prescribed by the WWA. 
 
6.3.3 Invoicing  
All charges referred to in clause 6.3.2 or 
otherwise recoverable under this Bylaw shall 
be invoiced in accordance with the WWAΩǎ 

Re-worded as per WCC bylaw.  
Provides a clearer outline of the 
processes around fees and charges. 
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6.3.4 Failure to pay 
All fees and charges payable under this bylaw shall 
be recoverable as a debt.  If the person discharging 
fails to pay any fees and charges under this bylaw 
the WWA may suspend or cancel the right to 
discharge in accordance with clause 3.10. 
 
 

standard commercial practice. The invoice 
shall provide each consent holder or permitted 
discharger with a copy of the information and 
calculations used to determine the extent of 
any charges and fees due, in regard to a 
discharge.  
 
6.3.4 Cease to discharge  
The trade waste discharge consent holder or 
permitted trade waste discharger shall be 
deemed to be continuing the discharge of 
trade wastes and shall be liable for all charges 
relating to the discharge, until written notice 
of disconnection is given to the WWA in 
accordance with clause 6.5.2. 
 
6.3.5 Failure to pay  
All fees and charges payable under this Bylaw 
shall be recoverable as a debt. If the person 
discharging fails to pay any fees and charges 
under this Bylaw the WWA may suspend or 
cancel the right to discharge in accordance 
with clause 3.11. 

6.7 Notwithstanding, and in addition to, the provisions of 

the Hutt Valley Drainage Act 1967, every person who 

fails to comply with this bylaw or breaches the 

conditions of a consent granted under it may be 

prosecuted under the LGA and is liable for the 

penalties set out in the LGA. 

 

Nothing in this bylaw affects the right and remedies 

of the WWA to recover costs associated with damage 

to the WWAôs sewerage system and/or breach of this 

6.7.1 Prosecution under the LGA 
Notwithstanding, and in addition to, the 
provisions of the Hutt Valley Drainage Act 
1967, every person who:  
(a) Fails to comply with or acts in 

contravention of any provision of this 
Bylaw; or  

(b) Breaches a condition of any trade 
waste discharge consent; or  

(c) Fails to comply with a notice served 

Essentially the same effect but 
reworded as per new WCC bylaw 
and laid out more transparently 
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bylaw under the provisions of the LGA or the Hutt 

Valley Drainage Act 1967 or otherwise. 

 

under this Bylaw, or 
(d) Fails to comply with any provision of a 

trade waste agreement entered into 
under clause 3.12 of the Bylaw. 

 
commits an offence against this Bylaw and 
under section 239 of the Local Government 
Act 2002. 
 
6.7.2 Recovery of costs 
Nothing in this Bylaw affects the rights and 
remedies of the WWA to recover costs 
ŀǎǎƻŎƛŀǘŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ ŘŀƳŀƎŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ²²!Ωǎ 
wastewater system and/or breach of this 
Bylaw under other legislative provisions or 
otherwise. 
 

Schedule 1    

S1.2.3 1A.2.3 Solids 

(a) Non-faecal gross solids shall have a maximum 

dimension which shall not exceed 15 mm. 

 

(b) The suspended solids content of any trade waste 

shall have a maximum concentration which shall 

not exceed 2000 g/m3.  For significant industry 

this may be reduced and if so the permitted 

concentration or mass limit will be specified in the 

conditional trade waste consent. 

 

S1.2.3 Solids  
(a) Non-faecal gross solids shall have a 

maximum dimension which shall not 

exceed 15 mm.  

(b) The suspended solids content of any 

trade waste shall have a maximum 

concentration which shall not exceed 

1000 g/m3. For significant industry this 

may be reduced and if so the 

maximum concentration or mass limit 

will be specified in the conditional 

trade waste discharge consent.  

This is a change from 2006, with 
suspended solids level halved. Aligns 
with Wgtn bylaw and of limited 
impact given most affected sites 
covered by conditional consents 
anyway under which the limit can be 
raised if required to avoid technical 
non-compliances of no real 
consequence. 
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1A.2.4 1A.2.4 Oil and grease 
(a) There shall be no free or floating layer. 
 
(b) A trade waste with mineral oil, fat or grease 
unavoidably emulsified, which in the opinion of the 
WWA is not biodegradable shall not exceed 200 
g/m3 as petroleum ether extractable matter when 
the emulsion is stable at a temperature of 15 °C and 
when the emulsion is in contact with and diluted by 
a factor of 10 by raw sewage, throughout the range 
of pH 6.0 to pH 10.0. 
 
(c) A trade waste with oil, fat or grease 
unavoidably emulsified, which in the opinion of the 
WWA is biodegradable shall not exceed 500 g/m3 
when the emulsion is stable at a temperature of 15 
°C and when the emulsion is in contact with and 
diluted by a factor of 10 by raw sewage throughout 
the range of pH 4.5 to pH 10.0. 
 
(d) Emulsified oil, fat or grease shall not exceed 
100 g/m3 as petroleum ether extractable matter 
when the emulsion is unstable at a temperature of 
15 °C and when the emulsion is in contact with and 
diluted by a factor of 10 by raw sewage throughout 
the range of pH 4.5 to pH 10.0. 

S1.2.4 Fats, oil and grease  
(a) There must be no free or floating 

layer.  

(b) There must be no discharge of fats, 

oils or greases containing substances 

that will become viscous between 0°C 

and 65°C.  

(c) A trade waste containing fats, oils or 

greases must not exceed 200g/m3. 

 

/ƘŀƴƎŜŘ ŦǊƻƳ нллсΩǎ ŎƻƴŦǳǎƛƴƎ 
section. Limit lowered from 500 to 
200g/m3.  
 
No consequence to most consent 
holders who are monitored as they 
are generally on conditional 
consents anyway and their limits can 
be raised if required to avoid 
meaningless non-compliance if 
appropriate. Gets rid of a virtually 
un-interpretable section. 
 
Simplifies the whole issue and aligns 
with current best practice. Old limit 
of 500 is probably a bit generous and 
exposes sewer to blockage risk. 
 
¢ƘŜ ǇǊƻǇƻǎŜŘ ǎŜŎǘƛƻƴ ƛǎ ŀǎ ǇŜǊ ///Ωǎ 
new bylaw and the new WCC bylaw. 
 

1A.3.1 1A.3.1 pH value 

The pH shall be between 5.5 and 10.0 at all times.  

 

S1.3.1 pH value  
The pH shall be between 6.0 and 10.0 at all 
times.  

Currently use 5.5 for historical 
reasons, proposed going to 6.0 
related to bore water use by 
industries. Not relevant anymore 
and we are at odds with all other TW 
bylaws. 
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 Will cause some larger food 
businesses to display greater levels 
of pH non-compliance but as we 
ŘƻƴΩǘ ŜƴŦƻǊŎŜ ǘƘŀǘ ƴƻƴ-compliance 
(unless significant) no site could 
expect increased enforcement as a 
consequence.  
Most commonly seen in relation to 
grease traps producing low pH 
discharges (fats breakdown by-
product) of little consequence 
usually.  

1A.3.2 Organic strength S1.3.2 Organic strength  
Χ ƻǊ .h5 ƻŦ ƎǊŜŀǘŜǊ ǘƘŀƴ мнΣллл ƎκƳ3 
 

Addition of BOD term along with 
COD maximum. Better protects 
treatment plant and consistent with 
WCC bylaw. Unlikely to affect sites 
unless significantly non-compliant 
but does provide additional tool if 
there is not a normal 2.5:1 
relationship between COD and BOD 
for their wastewater. 

1B.2.3 SCHEDULE 1B  

PROHIBITED CHARACTERISTICS 
1B.2.3  Specific prohibitions 

(g) Any health care waste prohibited for discharge to 

a sewerage system by NZS 4304 or any 

pathological or histological wastes; or 

 

 
 

SCHEDULE 2 PROHIBITED CHARACTERISTICS  
S2.4 Specific Prohibitions 
(g) Any health care waste prohibited for 

discharge to the wastewater system or 
any pathological or histological 
wastes. 

 

Slightly changed section but also 
needing to be reviewed in light of a 
recently received (to WCC bylaw) 
submission from Regional Public 
Health. RPH questioned whether 
Cytotoxic wastes should be allowed 
to be discharged despite being 
allowed by the healthcare wastes 
standard (4304). Impact for 
HCC/UHCC is limited but further 
research is needed.  
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1.2.9  S1.2.9 Liquid Wastes from Pharmacies  

These are generally products returned by 

customers in accordance with the Health and 

Disability Services Standards ς Pharmacy 

Services Standard NZS 8134.7:2010. 

Limits (except where they contain cytotoxic 

compounds or materials, which are prohibited, 

refer S2.4(j)) 

Volume 

Limit  

Active 

Concentrati

on  

10 Litres  125mg / 5 ml  

5 Litres  250mg / 5 ml  

3 Litres  Above 250mg / 

5ml  

 

 

In response to a recent submission 
Wellington City Council received 
from Regional Public Health(RPH) 
and in keeping with Pharmacy Guild 
practice guides. Effectively states 
restrictions derived from industry 
practice guidance and should not 
create any new effect. Should any 
specific site require higher discharge 
limits then that need can be 
discussed as part of controlled or 
conditional discharge consent. 

Schedule 2  S2.4 Specific Prohibitions  
(j)           Any  waste containing or 
contaminated by cytotoxic compounds.  
 
 

A change post RPH submission to 
Wellington City Council bylaw, 
consistent with best practice and 
industry guides which require the 
materials to be disposed of by 
incineration so no new effect, simply 
clarifies the situation and aligns 
bylaw with regional and national 
practice. 
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THE HUTT VALLEY TRADE WASTES BYLAW 2016 
 
PART 1 INTRODUCTION 
The Hutt City Council and Upper Hutt City Council makes the following bylaw under the authority of 
and in accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 2002 and the Bylaws Act 1910. 
 
1.1 TITLE 
The Hutt Valley Trade Wastes Bylaw 2016 (the/this Bylaw). 
 
1.2 COMMENCEMENT AND APPLICATION 
(a) This Bylaw comes into force on XX XXXX 2016. 
(b) This Bylaw applies throughout the districts of Hutt City Council and Upper Hutt City Council. 
 
1.3 PURPOSE OF THE BYLAW 
The purpose of this Bylaw is to: 
(a) Control trade wastes discharges into the wastewater system to: 

(i) Protect the wastewater system 
(ii) Promote cleaner production 
(iii) Protect the stormwater system 
(iv) Protect workers operating in or with the wastewater system 
(v) Protect the environment by ensuring compliance with the Resource Management 

Act 1991 - in particular, ensuring the necessary resource consent requirements for 
the wastewater system are met. 

(b) Provide a basis for: 
(i) Consenting and monitoring discharges from industry and trade premises;  
(ii) Charging trade waste users of the wastewater system to cover the cost of 

conveying, treating and disposing of or reusing their wastes; and 
(c) Ensure that the costs of treatment and disposal are shared fairly between trade waste and 

domestic wastewater dischargers.  
 
1.4 REVOCATION 
The Hutt Valley Trade Wastes Bylaw 2006 is revoked from Midnight on XX XXXX 2016. 
 
1.5 SCOPE OF THE BYLAW 
 
1.5.1 Scope 
This Bylaw provides for: 
(a) The acceptance of long-term, intermittent, or temporary discharge of trade waste to the 

wastewater system 
(b) The establishment of four classes of trade waste discharge: permitted, controlled, 

conditional and prohibited. 
(c) The evaluation of individual trade waste discharges against specified criteria 
(d) The correct storage of materials in order to protect the wastewater and stormwater systems 

from spillage 
(e) The installation of flow meters, samplers or other devices to measure flow and quality of the 

trade waste discharge 
(f) The pre-treatment of waste before it is accepted for discharge to the wastewater system 
(g) The sampling and monitoring of trade waste discharges to ensure compliance with the 

Bylaw 
(h) The WWA to accept or refuse a trade waste discharge 
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(i) Charges to be set to cover the cost of conveying, treating and disposing of or reusing trade 
waste and the associated costs of administration and monitoring 

(j) Administrative mechanisms for the operation of the Bylaw 
(k) The establishment of waste minimisation and management programmes for trade waste 

producers by way of trade waste discharge consent conditions 
(l) The power of the WWA to enter into trade waste agreements with trade waste dischargers 
 
1.5.2 Compliance with other Acts 
Nothing in this Bylaw shall derogate from any of the provisions of the Hutt Valley Drainage Act 
1967, the Health Act 1956, the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992, the Health and Safety 
at Work Act 2015, the Resource Management Act 1991, the Building Act 2004, and the Hazardous 
Substances and New Organisms Act 1996 (including any Acts passed by way of amendment to or 
in substitution therefor) and any regulations made thereunder or any other relevant statutory or 
regulatory requirements. In the event of any inconsistency between legislation and this Bylaw the 
more stringent requirement applies. 
 
1.6 DEFINITIONS 
For the purposes of this Bylaw the following definitions shall apply: 
 
NOTE: Words in italics in these definitions are also defined. 
 
óApproval or approvedô means approved in writing by an authorised officer of the WWA. 
óAuthorised officerô means any person appointed by the WWA for the purposes of acting as an 
authorised officer under this Bylaw.  
óBiosolids means sewage sludge derived from a sewage treatment plant that has been treated 
and/or stabilized to the extent that it is able to be safely and beneficially applied to land and does 
not include products derived solely from industrial wastewater treatment plants.  The term 
biosolid/biosolids is used generically throughout this bylaw to include products containing biosolids 
(e.g. composts). 
óCharacteristicô means any of the physical or chemical characteristics of a trade waste referred to 
in Schedules 2 and 3. 
óCleaner productionô means the implementation on trade premises, of effective operations, 
methods and processes appropriate to the goal of reducing or eliminating the quantity and toxicity 
of wastes. ñCleaner Productionò minimises and manages trade waste by: 
(a) Using energy and resources efficiently, avoiding or reducing the amount of wastes produced; 
(b) Producing environmentally sound products and services; 
(c) Achieving less waste, fewer costs and higher profits 
óCondensing water or cooling waterô means any water used in any trade, industry, or 
commercial process or operation in such a manner that it does not take up matter into solution or 
suspension. 
óConditional trade wasteô means a trade waste discharge that does not comply with one or more 
of the physical and chemical characteristics set out in Schedule 1 and/or has a maximum volume 
of trade waste of more than 5000L/day, but which does not have any characteristics of a prohibited 
trade waste defined in Schedule 2. 
 óConsent holderô means a person who has obtained a trade waste discharge consent from the 
WWA under this Bylaw for the discharge of trade waste to the wastewater system. 
óControlled trade wasteô means a trade waste discharge that complies with all the physical and 
chemical characteristics set out in Schedule 1 and has a maximum volume of trade waste of more 
than 100L/day but less than 5000L/day.  
óCouncilô means the Hutt City Council and/or the Upper Hutt City Council as the case may be. 
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óDischarge management planô means a plan for the monitoring, programming and controlling of 
the production of trade waste by the consent holder that is acceptable to the WWA. 
óDisconnectionô means the physical cutting and/or sealing of the section of a sewer between the 
premises and the wastewater system. 
óDomestic wastewaterô means either wastewater that is typical of that discharged from premises 
that are used solely for residential activities or wastewater of the same character discharged from 
other premises. 
óFoul waterô means the discharge from any sanitary fixture 
óIndependent analystô means an International Accreditation New Zealand accredited test 
laboratory appointed for the purposes of sampling and testing wastewater in accordance with the 
requirements of this Bylaw. 
óMass limitô means the total mass of any characteristic that is allowed to be discharged to the 
wastewater system over any twenty-four hour period from any single point of discharge or 
collectively from several points of discharge. 
óMaximum concentrationô means the peak concentration of any characteristic that may not be 
exceeded. 
'Office of Radiation Safety Guidelines' means the latest edition, complete with any amendments 
of Code of safe practice for the use of unsealed radioactive materials. 
óPermitted trade waste' means a trade waste discharge that complies with all the physical and 
chemical characteristics set out in Schedule 1 and does not exceed the maximum permitted 
volume of trade waste of 100L/day. 
óPersonô includes a corporation sole and also a body of persons whether corporate or incorporate. 
óPoint of dischargeô is the boundary between the WWAôs sewerage system and a private drain 
but for the purposes of monitoring, sampling and testing, shall be as designated in the trade waste 
consent.  
óPre-treatmentô means any processing of trade waste designed to reduce any characteristic in a 
waste, before discharge to the wastewater system. 
Premisesô means either: 
(a) a property or allotment which is held under a separate certificate of title or for which a separate 
certificate of title may be issued and in respect to which a building consent has been or may be 
issued, or 
(b) a building that has been defined as an individual unit by a cross-lease, unit title or company 
lease and for which a certificate of title is available, or 
(c) land held in public ownership (for example reserve) for a particular purpose, or 
(d) separately leased, individual units within buildings. 
óProhibited trade wasteô means a trade waste having physical and chemical characteristics as 
defined in Schedule 2 of this Bylaw.  A prohibited trade waste discharge cannot be undertaken and 
no consent can be sought for a prohibited trade waste discharge.   
óPublicly notifiedô means published on at least one occasion in a newspaper circulating in the 
Councilôs district, or under emergency conditions by the most practical means available at that 
time. 
óReceiving watersô means coastal waters or any natural waters which will receive treated wastes. 
óSewage sludgeô means the material settled out from wastewater during the treatment process. 
óSewerô means the pipework drainage system that conveys wastewater. 
 óSignificant industryô is a term to indicate the relative size of a given industry compared to the 
capacity of the WWAôs sewerage system (including sewage treatment plant) which services that 
industry.  Industry size relates to volume and/or loads discharging into the WWAôs sewerage 
system.  Loads can be the conventional loadings of BOD5 and SS or some other particular 
contaminant (e.g. Boron, Chromium) which will have an effect, or the propensity to have an effect, 
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on the sizing of the WWAôs sewerage system, the on-going system operation and/or the quality of 
the treated effluent that is discharged. 
óStormwaterô means all surface water run-off resulting from precipitation.  
óStormwater systemô means infrastructure for the provision and management of stormwater 
collection, treatment and disposal. 
óTankered wasteô is water or other liquid that has waste matter in solution or suspension and 
which is conveyed by vehicle for disposal. 
óTemporary dischargeô means any discharge of an intermittent or short duration, including the 
intermittent or short-term discharge of waste not provided for under an existing discharge consent. 
óTrade premisesô includes: 
(a) Any premises used or intended to be used for any industrial or trade purpose; and 
(b) Any premises used or intended to be used for the storage, transfer, treatment, or disposal 

of waste materials or for other waste management purposes, or used for composting 
organic materials; and 

(c) Any other premises from which a contaminant is discharged in connection with any 
industrial or trade process; and 

(d) Any other premises discharging other than domestic wastewater, 
and includes any land or premises wholly or mainly used for agricultural or horticultural purposes, 
but does not include any part of the WWAôs wastewater system or treatment facilities. 
óTrade wasteô means any liquid, with or without matters in suspension or solution, that is or may 
be discharged from a trade premises to the wastewater system in the course of any trade, 
business or industry, or any industrial or commercial process or operation, or in the course of any 
activity or operation of a like nature; but does not include condensing water or surface water which 
is discharged directly into a surface-water drain; but may include condensing or cooling waters, 
tankered wastes, stormwater which cannot be practically separated, or domestic wastewater. 
'Trade wastes discharge consent' means a consent granted by the WWA under this Bylaw 
allowing the discharge of controlled or conditional trade waste to the wastewater system. 
óWastewaterô means any water with matter in solution or suspension, domestic wastewater, or 
liquid trade waste. 
óWaste minimisationô means the implementation on trade premises, of operations, methods and 
processes appropriate to the goal of reducing or eliminating the quantity and toxicity of wastes. 
óWastewater authority (WWA)ô means the Hutt City Council, including its authorized agents, 
responsible for the collection, treatment and disposal of sewage. 
óWastewater systemô means all sewers, pumping stations, storage tanks, wastewater treatment 
plants, sea outfalls and other related structures owned by the WWA and used for the reception, 
treatment and disposal of wastewater. 
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1.7 Abbreviations  

 

$/kg dollars per kilogram 

$/L/s dollars per litre per second 

$/m3 dollars per cubic metre 
oC degrees Celsius 

B Boron 

BOD5 Biochemical Oxygen Demand 

Br2 Bromine 

Cl2 Chlorine 

CN Cyanide 

COD Chemical Oxygen Demand 

F Fluoride 

FOGs fats, oils and greases 

g/m3 grams per cubic metre 

H2S Hydrogen Sulphide 

hr hour 

kg/day kilogram per day 

L litre 

L/day litres per day 

L/s litre per second 

LGA Local Government Act 2002 

m3 cubic metre 

mg/L milligram per litre 

mL/L millilitre per litre 

N Nitrogen 

P Phosphorus 

pH measure of acidity/alkalinity 

RMA Resource Management Act 1991 

SO4 Sulphate 

SS suspended solids concentration 

UVT ultra violet transmission 
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PART 2  COMPLIANCE WITH THE BYLAW 
 
2.1 CONTROL OF TRADE WASTE DISCHARGES 
 
2.1.1 Restrictions on discharges of trade waste 
No person shall: 
(a) Discharge, or allow to be discharged, any permitted trade wastes to the wastewater 

system, except in accordance with the provisions of this Bylaw. 
(b) Discharge, or allow to be discharged, any controlled trade waste or conditional trade waste 

to the wastewater system except in accordance with a trade waste discharge consent or in 
accordance with the provisions of a Trade Wastes Agreement. 

(c) Discharge, or allow to be discharged, a prohibited trade waste into the wastewater system. 
(d) Add or permit the addition of potable, non-potable, condensing or cooling water to any trade 

waste, unless specific approval is given in a trade waste discharge consent. 
(e) Add or permit the addition of stormwater to any trade waste unless specific approval is 

given in a trade waste discharge consent. 
(f) Use refuse or garbage grinders, and macerators to dispose of solid waste from trade 

premises to the WWAôs sewerage system unless specifically approved by the WWA. 
 
2.1.2 Other requirements may apply 
Granting a trade wastes discharge consent or permitting any trade waste discharge under this 
Bylaw does not relieve the person discharging or allowing the discharge, from any obligations to 
obtain any other consent or permission for the discharge under any other statutory requirement. 
 
2.2 STORAGE, TRANSPORT, HANDLING AND USE OF HARMFUL MATERIALS 
(a) No person shall store, transport, handle or use, or cause to be stored, transported, handled 

or used any of the materials listed in 2.2(c) in a manner that may cause the material to 
enter the wastewater system or stormwater system and cause harmful effects. 

(b) All persons in trade premises shall take all reasonable steps to prevent the accidental 
discharge of any of the materials listed in 2.2(c) of this Bylaw as a result of leakage, 
spillage or other mishap. 

(c) Materials referred to in 2.2 (a) and (b) are those: 
(i) products or wastes containing corrosive, toxic, biocidal, radioactive, flammable or 

explosive materials, or 
(ii) likely to generate toxic, flammable, explosive or corrosive materials in quantities 

likely to be hazardous, when mixed with the wastewater stream, or 
(iii) likely to be deleterious to the health and safety of any person or be harmful to the 

wastewater system, stormwater system or environment. 
 
PART 3 TRADE WASTE CONSENTS 
 
3.1 CLASSIFICATION OF TRADE WASTE DISCHARGES 
Trade waste discharges shall be classified as one of the following types: 
(a) Permitted trade waste - a trade waste discharge consent is not required provided that the 

discharge complies with all the physical and chemical characteristics set out in Schedule 1 
and does not exceed a maximum volume of trade waste of 100L/day. 

(b) Controlled trade waste - trade waste that complies with all the physical and chemical 
characteristics set out in Schedule 1 and has a maximum volume of trade waste of more 
than 100L/day but less than 5000L/day. 
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(c) Conditional trade waste - trade waste that does not comply with one or more of the physical 
and chemical characteristics set out in Schedule 1 but which does not have any 
characteristics of a prohibited trade waste defined in Schedule 2. Conditional trade waste 
discharge consents shall include consents for temporary discharges. 

(d) Prohibited trade waste - trade waste that has, or is likely to have, any of the physical and 
chemical characteristics as set out in Schedule 2 of this Bylaw.  A prohibited trade waste 
discharge cannot be undertaken and no consent can be sought for a prohibited trade waste 
discharge.   

 
3.2 APPLICATION FOR A TRADE WASTE DISCHARGE CONSENT 
 
3.2.1 Formal application  
Every person who does, or proposes or is likely, to:  
(a) Discharge or allow to be discharged into the wastewater system any controlled or 

conditional trade waste (either continuously, intermittently or temporarily); or  
(b) Vary the characteristics of a discharge for which a trade waste discharge consent has 

previously been granted; or  
(c) Want to vary the conditions of a trade waste discharge consent that has previously been 

granted; or  
(d) Change the method or means of pre-treatment for discharge under an existing trade waste 

discharge consent  
shall, complete an application for consent  to the discharge of that trade waste if that trade waste is 
a controlled or conditional trade waste, or to the proposed variations, in a form prescribed by the 
WWA and accompanied by all relevant information required by the WWA to make its decision. 

3.2.2 Tankered wastes  

(a) No person may discharge tankered waste into the WWAôs sewerage system except in 
accordance with this bylaw, the Liquid and Hazardous Wastes Code of Practice  and as 
approved by the WWA  

(b) A person who wishes to discharge tankered wastes consisting of domestic sewage from 
short term portable facilities, such as portable toilets, directly to the WWAôs sewerage 
system may apply for a consent in accordance with the provisions of clause 3.2 of this 
bylaw 

(c) Subject to clause 3.2.2(b), other discharges of tankered wastes, including septic tank 
wastes, directly to the WWAôs sewerage system will not be permitted and must be disposed 
of in an approved commercial waste treatment facility 

(d) Tankers used for the discharge of domestic type portable facility wastes to approved 
locations shall not convey trade wastes 

  

3.2.3 WWA dealings with owner 

For the purposes of this bylaw, the WWA reserves the right to deal with the owner as well as the 

occupier of any trade premises.  

 

3.2.4 Several trade waste discharges  
Where the trade premises produces trade waste from more than one area, a separate description 
of each area of trade waste shall be included in any application for a trade waste discharge 
consent. This applies whether or not the separate areas are part of a single or separate trade 
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process. Should the premises discharge trade wastes to the wastewater system at more than one 
point of discharge then a separate application is required for each point of discharge. 
 
3.2.5 Applicant to be intended consent holder 
The applicant must be the intended consent holder who is the person responsible for discharging 
the trade waste. 
 
3.2.6 Payment of trade waste discharge consent application fee  
Every application under 3.2.1 above shall be accompanied by the trade waste discharge consent 
application fee prescribed by the WWA. 
 
 
3.3 CONSENT IF DISCHARGE ALTERS FROM A PERMITTED TRADE WASTE DISCHARGE  
The WWA may at any time require a person discharging trade waste as a permitted trade waste 
discharge to apply for a trade waste discharge consent in accordance with clause 3.2 if that 
discharge ceases to be a permitted trade waste discharge and is not a prohibited trade waste 
discharge. 
 
3.4 INFORMATION AND ANALYSIS  
 
3.4.1 Power to require independent advice  
The WWA may require an application to be supported by an independent report/statement 
completed by a suitably experienced and external auditor to verify any or all information supplied 
by the applicant, and this may include a discharge management plan. 
 
3.4.2 Requirement for further information  
On the receipt of any application referred to in 3.2.1(a)-(d) above, the WWA may do any one or 
more of the following:  
(a) Require the applicant to submit any additional information which it considers necessary to 

reach an informed decision;  
(b) Require the applicant to submit a discharge management plan to the satisfaction of the 

WWA;  
(c) Have the trade waste discharge investigated and analysed as provided for in this Bylaw (at 

the consent holderôs expense). 
 
3.5 CONSIDERATION OF AN APPLICATION  
Within 20 working days of receipt of an application complying with this Bylaw and/or all 
requirements under clauses 3.2 and 3.4, whichever is the later, the WWA shall, after considering 
the matters in clause 3.6, do any one or more of the following:  
(a) Advise the applicant that the proposed discharge is a permitted trade waste discharge and 

therefore a trade waste discharge consent is not required; or 
(b) Grant the application as a controlled or conditional trade waste discharge consent and 

inform the applicant of the decision and the conditions imposed on the discharge; or  
(c) Decline the application and notify the applicant of the decision giving a statement of the 

reasons for refusal, or 
(d) Reject the application on the basis that the discharge is a prohibited trade waste discharge.  
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3.6 CONSIDERATION CRITERIA  
In considering any application under 3.2.1(a)-(d) above and in imposing any conditions on such a 
trade wastes discharge consent, the Council shall take into consideration the quality, volume, and 
rate of discharge of the trade waste from the trade premises or tanker and may take into 
consideration:  
(a) The health and safety of WWA staff, agents and the public;  
(b) The limits and/or maximum values for characteristics of trade waste as specified in 

Schedules 1 and 2 of this Bylaw; 
(c) The extent to which the trade wastes may react with other trade wastes or domestic 

wastewater discharges to produce an undesirable effect, e.g. settlement of solids, 
production of odours, accelerated corrosion and deterioration of the wastewater system 
etc.;  

(d) The flows and velocities in the sewer, or sewers and the material or construction of the 
sewer or sewers;  

(e) The capacity of the wastewater system  
(f) The nature of any sewage treatment process, the degree to which the trade wastes are 

capable of being treated in the relevant wastewater system and any impacts on the relevant 
wastewater system;  

(g) The timing and balancing of flows into the wastewater system;  
(h) Any statutory requirements relating to the discharge of raw or treated wastewater to 

receiving waters, the disposal of sewage sludges, beneficial use of biosolids, and any 
discharge to air (including the necessity for compliance with any resource consent, 
discharge permit or water classification);  

(i) The effect of the trade wastes discharge on the ultimate receiving environment;  
(j) The conditions on resource consents for the wastewater system and the residuals from it;  
(k) The possibility of unscheduled, unexpected or accidental events and the degree of risk 

these could cause to humans, the wastewater system and the environment; 
(l) Consideration for other existing or future discharges;  
(m) Amenability of the trade waste to pre-treatment;  
(n) The provision of suitable pre-treatment facilities on the premises and the potential for its 

future use;  
(o) Cleaner production techniques and waste minimisation practices;  
(p) Requirements and limitations related to sewage sludge disposal and reuse;  
(q) Control of stormwater; 
(r) The applicantôs discharge management plan; and 
(s) Tankered waste being discharged at an approved location. 
  
3.7 COMPLIANCE WAIVER 
 
3.7.1 Application to waive need for trade waste discharge consent 
An application to the WWA can be made to waive compliance with the requirement to obtain a 
trade waste discharge consent under this Bylaw on the basis that due to the nature, volume or 
other circumstance/characteristic, it would needlessly affect the operation of any business or cause 
inconvenience to any person, without any corresponding reduction of impact on the operation of 
the wastewater system. 
 
3.7.2 Decision of WWA 
On receipt of an application under clause 3.7.1, the WWA may: 
(a) Waive the need to observe requirement for a trade waste discharge consent under this 

Bylaw, and  
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(b) Impose such other terms or conditions consistent with the intention and purpose of the 
Bylaw as the WWA may think fit. 

 
3.8 CONDITIONS OF TRADE WASTE CONSENT 
Any trade waste discharge consent may be granted subject to any conditions the WWA considers 
appropriate including but not limited to:  
(a) The particular public sewer or sewers to which the discharge will be made;  
(b) The maximum daily volume of the discharge, the maximum rate of discharge, and the 

duration of maximum discharge;  
(c) The maximum limit or permissible range of any specified characteristics of the discharge, 

including concentrations and/or mass limits determined in accordance with clause 4.3;  
(d) The period or periods of the day during which the discharge, or a particular concentration, 

or volume of discharge may be made;  
(e) The degree of acidity, or alkalinity of the discharge at the time of discharge;  
(f) The temperature of the trade waste at the time of discharge; 
(g) The provision and maintenance by, or for the consent holder (at the consent holderôs 

expense) of screens, grease traps, silt traps or other pre-treatment works to control trade 
waste discharge characteristics to the consented levels;  

(h) The provision and maintenance (at the consent holderôs expense) of inspection chambers, 
manholes or other apparatus or devices to provide reasonable access to drains for 
sampling and inspection;  

(i) The provision and maintenance of a sampling, analysis and testing programme and flow 
measurement requirements (at the consent holderôs expense);  

(j) The method or methods to be used for the measuring of flow rates and/or volume and 
taking samples of the discharge for use in determining the amount of any trade waste 
charges applicable to that discharge;  

(k) The provision and maintenance (at the consent holderôs expense) of such meters or 
devices as may be required to measure the volume or flow rate of any trade waste being 
discharged from the premises, and for the testing and certification of such meters;  

(l) The provision and maintenance (at the consent holderôs expense) of such services, 
(whether electricity, water or compressed air or otherwise), which may be required, in order 
to operate meters and similar devices;  

(m) The provision by the trade waste discharge consent holder to the WWA of all flow and/or 
volume records and results of analyses (including pre-treatment by-products e.g. sewage 
sludge disposal) at the times and in a manner and format approved by the WWA; 

(n) The provision and implementation of a discharge management plan;  
(o) Risk assessment of damage to the environment due to an accidental discharge of a 

chemical or other contaminant;  
(p) Appropriate systems for waste minimisation and management;  
(q) Provision for cleaner production techniques;  
(r) Provision for third party treatment, carriage, discharge or disposal of by-products of pre-

treatment of trade waste (including sewage sludge disposal);  
(s) Requirement to provide a bond or insurance in favour of the WWA where failure to comply 

with the trade waste discharge consent could result in damage to the wastewater system, 
its treatment plants, or could result in the WWA being in breach of any statutory obligation; 

(t) Provision for remote monitoring and/or control of discharges; and 
(u) Provision for Councilôs monitoring costs to be recovered.  
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3.9 DURATION OF TRADE WASTE DISCHARGE CONSENTS 
Subject to clauses 2.1.2, 3.9, 3.10, 3.11 and 6.1, controlled and conditional trade waste discharge 
consents shall remain in force until they expire at the end of the term prescribed in the trade waste 
discharge consent, being a term of no more than two years.  However, the trade waste discharge 
consent may be granted for a term not exceeding five years where a consent holder, at the time of 
the application, satisfies the WWA that: 
(a) The nature of the trade activity, or the process design and/or management of the premises 

are such that the consent holder has a demonstrated ability to meet the conditions of the 
trade waste discharge consent during its term; and/or  

(b) Cleaner production techniques are successfully being utilised, or that a responsible 
investment in cleaner production equipment or techniques is being made; and/or  

(c) Significant investment in pre-treatment facilities has been made, such that a longer period 
of certainty for the amortization of this investment is considered reasonable. 

3.9.1 CHANGE RESULTING IN TERMINATION 

In all cases where either the consent holder or the occupier changes, or there is a change in the 

nature of the trade, business or activities of the consent holder or occupier, any trade waste 

discharge consent shall be deemed to have been cancelled, and a new application for a new trade 

waste discharge consent shall be made under clause 3.2.  It shall be the responsibility of the 

consent holder to lodge a new application. 
 
 
3.10 TECHNICAL REVIEW AND VARIATION 
 
3.10.1 Reclassification or variation 
The WWA may at any time during the term of a trade waste discharge consent, after consulting 
with the consent holder and by written notice to the consent holder, reclassify the discharge and/or 
vary any condition of the trade waste discharge consent having regard to issues such as: 
(a) Changes in the quantity, nature and characteristics of the discharge 
(b) Changes in the wastewater system 
(c) Changes in circumstances that result in condition(s) becoming inappropriate or 

unnecessary 
(d) Any apparent or actual breach of trade waste discharge consent conditions or any breach 

of this Bylaw 
(e) Changes in the WWAôs environmental policies or outcomes 
(f) Changes in resource consents for the wastewater system 
(g) Changes in the legal requirements imposed on the WWA under any contract, statute or 

otherwise. 
(h) New information becomes available 
 
3.10.2 Variation of conditions 
The consent holder may seek to vary any condition of a trade waste discharge consent at any time 
during the term of a consent by written application to the WWA, as provided for in 3.2.1 (c) of this 
Bylaw. 
 
3.11 SUSPENSION OR CANCELLATION OF A TRADE WASTE DISCHARGE CONSENT OR 
RIGHT TO DISCHARGE 
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3.11.1 Suspension or cancellation on notice  
The WWA may suspend or cancel any trade wastes discharge consent or right to discharge at any 
time following 20 working daysô notice to the consent holder or the person discharging trade 
wastes:  
(a) For the failure to comply with any condition of the trade waste discharge consent or trade 

waste agreement or with any provision of this Bylaw;  
(b) For the failure to maintain effective control over the discharge;  
(c) For the failure to limit the volume, nature, or composition of trade waste being discharged in 

accordance with the conditions of the trade waste discharge consent or this Bylaw; 
(d) For any acts or omissions which, in the opinion of the WWA, threaten the safety of, or 

threaten to cause damage to any part of the wastewater system or threaten the health or 
safety of any person, or are likely to cause, or have caused, adverse effects on the 
environment;  

(e) For any acts or omissions which, in the opinion of the WWA, may result, or have resulted, 
in the WWA being in breach of a resource consent in relation to the wastewater system;  

(f) For any failure to pay any charges under this Bylaw; or  
(g) If any other circumstances arise which, in the opinion of the WWA, render it necessary to 

cancel or suspend the right to discharge, and 
 
such suspension or cancellation shall take effect on the expiry of such period as the WWA thinks fit 
(being not earlier than 20 working daysô after service of the notice on the consent holder or person 
discharging the trade wastes). 
 
3.11.2 Summary cancellation  
Notwithstanding the provisions of clause 3.11.1, the WWA may cancel any trade waste discharge 
consent or right to discharge (either as a permitted trade waste discharge or in terms of a trade 
waste agreement) with immediate effect by giving written notice to the consent holder or person 
discharging if any of the following occur:  
(a) That person discharges or permits to be discharged any prohibited trade waste; or  
(b) The WWA is lawfully directed to withdraw or otherwise to terminate the trade waste 

discharge consent; or  
(c) That person discharges any trade waste unlawfully; or  
(d) In the opinion of the WWA, the continuance of discharge endangers, or is likely to 

endanger, the health or safety of any person, damages or is likely to cause damage to the 
wastewater system, causes, or is likely to cause, adverse effects on the environment; or  

(e) The continuance of discharge may, in the opinion of the WWA, result in a breach of a 
resource consent held by the WWA for the wastewater system; or  

(f) In the opinion of the WWA, the continuance of the discharge puts at risk the ability of the 
WWA to comply with conditions of a resource consent for the wastewater system and/or 
requires identified additional treatment measures or costs to seek to avoid a breach of any 
such resource consent.   

 
3.11.3 Physical prevention of discharge 
In the event of failure to comply with clause 3.11.1 or 3.11.2 the WWA may physically prevent 
discharge to the wastewater system, by whatever means it deems appropriate in the 
circumstances. 
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3.12 TRADE WASTE AGREEMENTS 
 
3.12.1 Written agreement 
The WWA may, at any time and at its discretion, enter into a written agreement with any trade 
wastes discharger for the discharge and reception of trade wastes into the wastewater system. Any 
such agreement will be in place of a trade waste discharge consent.  
 
3.12.2 Agreement in force 
Any agreement with the WWA to discharge trade waste into the wastewater system which was in 
force immediately prior to the commencement of this Bylaw, is, for the purpose of this Bylaw, 
treated as if it were a trade waste agreement referred to in sub clause (1). 
 
PART 4 TRADE WASTE APPROVAL CRITERIA 
 
4.1 PRE-TREATMENT 
 
4.1.1 Appropriate pre-treatment 
The WWA may approve a trade waste discharge consent subject to the provision of appropriate 
pre-treatment systems to enable the discharger to comply with the Bylaw. Such pre-treatment 
systems shall be provided, operated and maintained by the discharger at their expense. 
 
4.1.2 Refuse or garbage grinders and macerators 
Refuse or garbage grinders and macerators shall not be used to dispose of solid waste from trade 
premises to the wastewater system unless approved by the WWA. 
 
4.1.3 Additions to trade waste stream 
The consent holder shall not, unless approved by the WWA, add or permit the addition of any 
potable, condensing, cooling water or stormwater to any trade waste stream in order to vary the 
level of any characteristic of the waste. 
 
4.2 MEASUREMENT OF WASTE QUALITY 
Wastewater quality shall be determined by either: 
(a) Measuring the concentration of its characteristics alone, refer to Schedules 1 and 2; or 
(b) Measuring both mass and concentration of its characteristics. 
 
4.3 MASS LIMITS 
 
4.3.1 Consents may specify mass limits 
A controlled or conditional trade wastes discharge consent may specify a mass limit for any 
characteristic.   
 
4.3.2 Criteria 
When setting mass limit allocations for a particular characteristic the WWA will consider:  
(a) The operational requirements of and risk to the wastewater system,  
(b) Potential risks to occupational health and safety, public health, and the ultimate receiving 

environment;  
(c) Whether or not the levels proposed pose a threat to the planned or actual beneficial reuse 

of biosolids or sewage sludge;  
(d) Conditions in the wastewater system near the trade waste point of discharge and 

elsewhere in the wastewater system;  
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(e) Whether or not the applicant uses or proposes to use cleaner production techniques within 
a period satisfactory to the WWA;  

(f) Whether or not there is any net benefit to be gained by the increase of one characteristic 
concurrently with the decrease of another to justify any increased application for industrial 
capacity;  

(g) Any requirements of the WWAôs resource consents to reduce any contaminant discharge of 
the wastewater system;  

(h) How great a proportion the mass flow of a characteristic of the discharge will be of the total 
mass flow of that characteristic in the wastewater system;  

(i) The total mass of the characteristic allowable in the wastewater system, and the proportion 
(if any) to be reserved for future allocations; and 

(j) Whether or not there is an interaction with other characteristics which increases or 
decreases the effect of either characteristic on the sewer reticulation, treatment process, or 
receiving water or land. 

 
 
5 SAMPLING, TESTING AND MONITORING 
 
5.1 FLOW METERING 
 
5.1.1 Requirement for flow metering  
Flow metering may be required by the WWA in the following circumstances:  
(a) Where the WWA determines that there is not a reasonable relationship between a metered 

water supply to the premises, and the discharge of trade waste; and/or  
(b) Where the WWA does not approve a method of flow estimation provided by an applicant or 

the consent holder; and/or  
(c) When the discharge from particular premises represents a significant proportion of the total 

flow/load received by the wastewater system.  
 
5.1.2 Consent holder is responsible for meters  
The consent holder or permitted trade wastes discharger shall be responsible for the supply, 
installation, reading and maintenance of any meter required by the WWA for the measurement of 
the rate or quantity of discharge of trade waste from its premises. These devices shall be as 
approved by the WWA, but shall remain the property of the consent holder or discharger. 
 
5.1.3 Flow metering records  
Records of flow and/or volume shall be available for inspection at any time by the WWA, and shall 
be submitted to the WWA at prescribed intervals by the consent holder in a format and by a 
method approved by the WWA.  
 
5.1.4 Location of flow meters  
Meters shall be located in a position approved by the WWA to be readily accessible for reading 
and maintenance. The meters shall be installed according to the manufacturerôs installation 
instructions to the satisfaction of an authorized officer.  
 
5.1.5 Calibration of flow meters  
The consent holder or permitted trade waste discharger must arrange for in situ calibration of the 
flow metering equipment in accordance with best practice upon installation and at least once a 
year thereafter to ensure its performance. The meter accuracy must be ±10% but with no greater a 
deviation from the previous meter calibration of ± 5%. A copy of independent certification of each 
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calibration result must be submitted to the WWA following installation of the flow metering 
equipment and then within one month of each annual inspection or otherwise in accordance with 
any trade waste discharge consent conditions. 
 
5.1.6 Adjustments  
Should any meter used for measuring a trade waste discharge, be found, after being calibrated, to 
have an error greater than that specified in clause 5.1.5 as a repeatable measurement, the WWA 
may:  
(a) Make an adjustment to the fee calculation in accordance with previous readings and the 

consent holder must pay or be credited according to such adjustment; or  
(b) Where the consent holder can explain the reason for the error and establish a reasonable 

basis for an adjustment, make a reasonable adjustment to the fee calculation. 
 
 
5.2 ESTIMATING DISCHARGE 
 
5.2.1 No meter warranted 
Where no trade wastes meter or similar apparatus is warranted, the WWA may require that a 
percentage of the water supplied to the premises, or other such basis as seems reasonable, be 
used for estimating the rate or quantity of flow. 
 
5.2.2 Meter out of repair 
Should any meter be out of repair, or cease to register, or be removed, the WWA shall estimate the 
discharge for the period since the previous reading of such meter, based on: 
(a) The average of the previous four measurement periods, or 
(b) Any other factors for the purpose of arriving at a reasonable estimate when there is 

reasonable evidence that the average of the previous four measurement periods would be 
an unreasonable estimate of the discharge. 

 
5.2.3 Tampering with meter 
Where, in the opinion of the WWA, a meter has been tampered with, the WWA (without prejudice 
to the other remedies available) may declare the reading void and estimate discharge as provided 
above. 
 
 
5.3 SAMPLING AND ANALYSIS 
 
5.3.1 Sampling, testing and monitoring 
The WWA may sample, test and monitor trade wastes discharges, and/or may require that the 
discharge be sampled, tested and monitored by the trade wastes discharge consent holder to 
determine:  
(a) If a discharge complies with the provisions of this Bylaw; or any conditions of a trade waste 

discharge consent;  
(b) If a discharge should be classified as permitted, controlled, conditional, or prohibited (refer 

to clause 3.1);  
(c) If a discharge complies with the provisions of Schedule 1 for a permitted discharge or any 

trade waste discharge consent; and/or  
(d) What trade waste charges are applicable to that discharge. 
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5.3.2 Best Industry Standards 
The sampling, taking, preservation, transportation and analysis of the sample shall be undertaken 
in accordance with best industry standards and methods, and otherwise as approved by the WWA. 
The consent holder shall be responsible for all reasonable costs. 
 
5.3.3 Provision of certificate by analyst  
Every independent analyst shall provide the Council with a certificate signed by the analyst at the 
time any sample or finding is provided to the Council, and that certificate shall:  
(a) Describe the source of any sample, the time and date it was taken, and the method used to 

take it;  
(b) Certify that the sample has been taken in accordance with the provisions of this Bylaw or 

the relevant trade waste discharge consent;  
(c) Describe the findings of any analysis, their source and methods used to determine them; 

and  
(d) Certify that the analysis has been made in accordance with the provisions of this Bylaw or 

the relevant trade waste discharge consent. 
 
5.3.4 Right of WWA to appoint analyst  
When an independent analyst appointed by the consent holder or person with a right to discharge 
trade waste fails for whatever reason, to carry out their functions, then the WWA may appoint an 
independent analyst to carry out those functions.  
 
5.3.5 Dispute Resolution 
Where any dispute arises as to the validity of the methods or procedures used for sampling or 
analysis, with the approval of the WWA, the dispute may be submitted to a mutually agreed 
independent arbitrator for resolution.  
 
5.3.6 Entry into premises  
Notwithstanding, and in addition to, section 46, Hutt Valley Drainage Act 1967, all authorised 
officers of the WWA, or any analyst (accompanied by an authorised officer) may enter any 
premises believed to be discharging trade waste at any time in order to determine any 
characteristics of any actual or potential discharge by:  
(a) Taking samples, readings and measurements; and/or  
(b) Carrying out an inspection; and/or  
(c) Taking samples for testing, of any solid, liquid, or gaseous material or any combination or 

mixture of such materials being discharged.  
 

Authorization for entry to premises is given under the LGA and section 46 of the Hutt Valley 

Drainage Act 1967. 
 
 
5.4 MONITORING  
 
5.4.1 Monitoring for compliance  
The WWA may require the holder of a trade waste discharge consent or anyone who has a right to 
discharge trade wastes (including under a trade waste agreement) to monitor the discharge  under 
the terms of its trade waste discharge consent, this Bylaw or trade waste agreement. The details of 
the monitoring required to be undertaken shall be determined by the WWA, and may include, 
without limitation, all or any of the following:  
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(a) Samples will be taken by the WWA or by an independent analyst approved by the WWA 
(whether or not appointed by the Council or the consent holder), and will be analysed in a 
laboratory approved by the WWA;  

(b) The independent analyst will take samples and make measurements at times and in a 
manner determined by the WWA;  

(c) Where a trade waste discharge is monitored by the consent holder, the WWA may audit the 
samples and review the analysis carried out for that consent holder, and such analysis 
must be performed by a laboratory approved by the WWA, and inter-laboratory checks may 
also apply. 

 
5.4.2 Costs of Monitoring 
At the discretion of the WWA all costs of monitoring will be met by the consent holder either 
through direct payment to the laboratory or to the WWA in accordance with the WWAôs charging 
policy. 
 
5.4.3 Splitting of samples 
Where required, a grab or composite sample can be split equally into three as follows: 
(a) One portion of the sample goes to the trade waste occupier for appropriate analysis and/or 

storage;  
(b) A second portion of the sample will be analysed at a laboratory approved by the WWA;  
(c) A third portion of the sample is retained by the WWA or an independent laboratory for 20 

working days, for additional analysis if required. 
 
5.4.4  Mitigation against changes  
Due consideration will be applied to any changes that could occur in retained trade waste samples 
and provisions to mitigate against changes will be adopted where practicable. 
 
5.4.5 Handling of samples 
In all cases the samples will be handled in an appropriate manner such that the characteristics 
being tested for are, as far as reasonably possible, preserved properly. 
 
5.4.6  Delivery to approved laboratory 
All samples will be preserved, handled, transported and delivered to an approved laboratory 
according to approved standards. 
 
5.4.7 Monitoring not specified 
In situations where monitoring is not specifically required, it is the responsibility of the consent 
holder to ensure that any discharge from the trade waste premises complies with this Bylaw, and 
any other related Bylaw. 
 
 
5.4.8 Right of WWA to monitor  
The WWA may independently monitor any person with a right to discharge trade wastes or consent 
holderôs compliance with this Bylaw, a trade waste agreement or trade waste discharge consent.  
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PART 6 BYLAW ADMINISTRATION 
 
6.1 REVIEW OF DECISIONS  
If any person is dissatisfied with any decision by an authorised officer made under this Bylaw, that 
person may, by notice delivered to the Chief Executive of the WWA not later than 20 working days 
after the decision by the authorised officer is served upon that person, request the WWA to review 
any such decision and provide its determination as soon as reasonably practicable.  The 
determination must set out the reasons why the review should be undertaken. 
 

Nothing in this clause shall affect any right of appeal under the LGA or section 45 of the Hutt Valley 

Drainage Act 1967. 
 
 
6.2 ACCIDENTS AND NON-COMPLIANCE  
 
6.2.1 Notice to Council 
The consent holder shall inform the WWA immediately on discovery of any accident including spills 
or process mishaps which may cause a breach of this Bylaw or trade waste discharge consent 
under it.  
 
6.2.2 Trade waste discharge consents 
In the event of any accident occurring when the person holds a trade waste discharge consent, 
then the WWA may review the consent or may require the consent holder, within 20 working days 
of the date such requirement is notified to the consent holder in writing, to review the contingency 
management procedures and re-submit for approval the discharge management plan with the 
WWA.  
 
6.2.3 Permitted trade waste discharges 
In the event of an accident occurring on the premises of a permitted trade waste discharge, the 
WWA may require the person discharging to apply for a trade waste discharge consent. 
 
6.3 CHARGES AND PAYMENTS  
 
6.3.1 Setting of fees and charges  
The WWA may, by resolution, prescribe or vary fees and charges in respect of any matter provided 
for in this Bylaw.  This includes, but is not limited to fees and charges for the application process, 
administration and monitoring of trade waste discharge consents and for the conveyance, 
treatment and disposal of trade wastes. 
 
6.3.2 Fees and Charges 
The trade waste discharge consent holder and any permitted trade waste discharger shall pay all 
fees and charges prescribed by the WWA. 
 
6.3.3 Invoicing  
All charges referred to in clause 6.3.2 or otherwise recoverable under this Bylaw shall be invoiced 
in accordance with the WWAôs standard commercial practice. The invoice shall provide each 
consent holder or permitted discharger with a copy of the information and calculations used to 
determine the extent of any charges and fees due, in regard to a discharge.  
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6.3.4 Cease to discharge  
The trade waste discharge consent holder or permitted trade waste discharger shall be deemed to 
be continuing the discharge of trade wastes and shall be liable for all charges relating to the 
discharge, until written notice of disconnection is given to the WWA in accordance with clause 
6.5.2. 
 
6.3.5 Failure to pay  
All fees and charges payable under this Bylaw shall be recoverable as a debt. If the person 
discharging fails to pay any fees and charges under this Bylaw the WWA may suspend or cancel 
the right to discharge in accordance with clause 3.11.  
 
6.4 AUTHORISED OFFICERS  
All authorised officers shall possess and produce on request warrants of authority and evidence of 
identity. 
 
6.5 TRANSFER OR TERMINATION OF RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES  
 
6.5.1 Restrictions  
The consent holder shall not, unless written approval is obtained from the WWA:  
(a) Transfer to any other person the rights and responsibilities provided for under the trade 

waste discharge consent;  
(b) Allow a point of discharge to serve any other premises, whether directly or indirectly; or  
(c) Allow trade waste from any other person who is not the consent holder entitled to discharge 

under any trade waste discharge consent from the premises to be conveyed or discharged 
to the wastewater system at the point of discharge specified in the consent. 

 
6.5.2 Disconnection  
(a) The consent holder shall give 48 hours prior notice in writing to the WWA of their 

requirement for disconnection of the discharge connection and/or termination of the trade 
waste discharge consent, except where demolition or relaying of the discharge drain is 
required, in which case the notice shall be seven working days prior notice. The person 
discharging shall notify the WWA of the new address details for final invoicing.  

(b) On permanent disconnection and/or termination the consent holder may at the WWAôs 
discretion be liable for trade wastes charges to the end of the current charging period.  

 
6.5.3 Cessation of occupation  
When a consent holder ceases to occupy premises from which trade wastes are discharged into 
the wastewater system any trade waste discharge consent granted shall terminate on the date 
occupation ceases, unless the consent holder has transferred the trade wastes discharge consent 
in accordance with clause 6.5.1(a) of this Bylaw to any new occupier. Any obligations existing at 
the date of termination of the trade waste discharge consent shall remain in place.   
 
 
6.6 SERVICE OF DOCUMENTS 
 
6.6.1 Method of service 
Notwithstanding, and in addition to, section 84 of the Hutt Valley Drainage Act 1967, any notice or 
other document required to be given, served or delivered under this Bylaw may (in addition to any 
other method permitted by law) be given or served or delivered by being:  
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(a) Sent by pre-paid ordinary mail, courier, or facsimile, or email to the consent holder or 
discharger at their last known place of residence or business;  

(b) Sent by pre-paid ordinary mail, courier, or facsimile, or email to the consent holder or 
discharger at any address for service specified in a trade waste discharge consent;  

(c) Where the consent holder or discharger is a body corporate, sent by pre-paid ordinary mail, 
courier, or facsimile, or email to, or left at its registered office; or  

(d) Personally served on the consent holder or discharger.  
 
6.6.2 Deemed receipt 
Notwithstanding, and in addition to, section 84 of the Hutt Valley Drainage Act 1967, if any notice 
or other document is:  
(a) Sent by post it will be deemed received on the third day (excluding weekends and public 

holidays) after posting;  
(b) Sent by facsimile or email and the senderôs facsimile or email machine produces a 

transmission report indicating that the facsimile or email was sent to the addressee, the 
report will be prima facie evidence that the facsimile or email was received by the 
addressee in a legible form at the time indicated on that report; or 

(c) Sent by courier and the courier obtains a receipt or records delivery on a courier run sheet, 
the receipt or record of delivery on a courier run sheet will be prima facie evidence that the 
communication was received by the addressee at the time indicated on the receipt or 
courier run sheet, or left at a conspicuous place at the trade premises or is handed to a 
designated person(s) nominated by the consent holder or discharger then that will be 
deemed to be service on, or delivery to the consent holder or discharger at that time.  

 
6.6.3 Authorised Officer Signature 
Any notice or document to be given, served or delivered will be signed by an authorised officer of 
or by the consent holder (depending on who is providing the notice or document).  
 
6.7 OFFENCES  
 
6.7.1 Prosecution under the LGA 
Notwithstanding, and in addition to, the provisions of the Hutt Valley Drainage Act 1967, every 
person who:  
(a) Fails to comply with or acts in contravention of any provision of this Bylaw; or  
(b) Breaches a condition of any trade waste discharge consent; or  
(c) Fails to comply with a notice served under this Bylaw, or 
(d) Fails to comply with any provision of a trade waste agreement entered into under clause 

3.12 of the Bylaw. 
 
commits an offence against this Bylaw and under section 239 of the Local Government Act 2002. 
 
 
 
6.7.2 Recovery of costs 
Nothing in this Bylaw affects the rights and remedies of the WWA to recover costs associated with 
damage to the WWAôs wastewater system and/or breach of this Bylaw under other legislative 
provisions or otherwise. 
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6.8 TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS 
 
6.8.1 Application made before Bylaw 
Any application for a trade waste discharge consent made under the Hutt Valley Trade Wastes 
Bylaw 2006, before this Bylaw commences, but which WWA has made no decision on by that date, 
shall be deemed to be an application made under 3.2 of this Bylaw and will be processed in 
accordance with this Bylaw. 
 
6.8.2 Existing consents 
Every existing trade waste discharge consent shall continue in force as if it were a consent under 
this Bylaw until it reaches its expiry date. 
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SCHEDULE 1 ï TRADE WASTE DISCHARGE CHARACTERISTICS 
 
S1.1 INTRODUCTION 
 
S1.1.1 The nature and levels of the characteristics of any trade waste discharged to the 
wastewater system shall comply at all times with the following requirements, except where the 
nature and levels of such characteristics are varied by the WWA as part of a consent to discharge 
trade waste.  
 
S1.1.2 The WWA shall take into consideration the combined effects of trade wastes discharges 
and may make any modifications to the following acceptable characteristics for individual 
discharges the WWA believes are appropriate.  
 
S1.1.3 Mass limits for characteristics in Tables 1, 2 and 3 may be applied by the WWA as required, 
refer clause 4.3 of the Bylaw.  
 
S1.1.4 The nature and levels of any characteristic may be varied to meet any new resource 
consents or other legal requirements imposed on the WWA, refer to clause 3.10 of this Bylaw. 
 
S1.2 PHYSICAL CHARACTERISTICS  
 
S1.2.1 Flow  
(a) The 24 hour flow volume shall be less than 5 m3.  
(b) The maximum instantaneous flow rate shall be less than 2.0 L/s.  
 
S1.2.2 Temperature  
The temperature shall not exceed 40 °C. 
 
S1.2.3 Solids  

(a) Non-faecal gross solids shall have a maximum dimension which shall not exceed 15 mm.  

(b) The suspended solids content of any trade waste shall have a maximum concentration 

which shall not exceed 1000 g/m3. For significant industry this may be reduced and if so the 

maximum concentration or mass limit will be specified in the conditional trade waste 

discharge consent.  

(c) The settleable solids content of any trade waste shall not exceed 50 mL/L.  

(d) The total dissolved solids concentration in any trade waste shall be subject to the approval 

of the WWA having regard to the volume of the waste to be discharged, and the suitability 

of the drainage system and the treatment plant to accept such waste. 

(e) Fibrous, woven, or sheet film or any other materials which may adversely interfere with the 

free flow of sewage in the drainage system or treatment plant shall not be present.  
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S1.2.4 Fats, oil and grease  
(a) There must be no free or floating layer.  

(b) There must be no discharge of fats, oils or greases containing substances that will become 

viscous between 0°C and 65°C.  

(c) A trade waste containing fats, oils or greases must not exceed 200g/m3. 

 
S1.2.5 Solvents and other organic liquids 
There shall be no free layer (whether floating or settled) of solvents or organic liquids. 
 
S1.2.6 Emulsions of paint, latex, adhesive, rubber, plastic  

(a) Such emulsions whether treatable or not may be discharged into the sewer subject to:  

(i) The total suspended solids not exceeding 1000 g/m3 or the concentration 

agreed with the WWA and  

(ii) The organic strength of the wastewater must comply with the provisions of 

S1.3.2.  

(b) The WWA may determine that the need exists for pre-treatment of such emulsions if they 

consider that trade waste containing emulsions unreasonably interferes with the operation 

of the WWA treatment plant e.g. reduces % UVT (ultra violet transmission).  

(c) Such emulsions of both treatable and non-treatable types, shall be discharged to the sewer 

only at a concentration and pH range that prevents coagulation and blockage at the mixing 

zone in the public sewer.  

 
S1.2.7 Radioactivity  
Radioactivity levels shall not exceed the Office of Radiation Safety Guidelines. 
 
S1.2.8 Colour  
No waste shall have colour or colouring substance that causes the discharge to be coloured to the 
extent that it impairs wastewater treatment processes or compromises the treated sewage 
discharge consent.  
 
 
S1.2.9 Liquid Wastes from Pharmacies  
These are generally products returned by customers in accordance with the Health and Disability 
Services Standards ï Pharmacy Services Standard NZS 8134.7:2010. 
Limits (except where they contain cytotoxic compounds or materials, which are prohibited, refer 
S2.4(j)) 

¶ Volume Limit  ¶ Active Concentration  

¶ 10 Litres  ¶ 125mg / 5 ml  

¶ 5 Litres  ¶ 250mg / 5 ml  

¶ 3 Litres  ¶ Above 250mg / 5ml  
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S1.2.10 Inhibitory Substances  
Should any characteristic of a discharge be found to inhibit the performance of the wastewater 
treatment process, such that the WWA is significantly at risk or prevented from achieving its 
environmental statutory requirements, then the WWA reserves the right to amend the 
corresponding trade waste discharge consent summarily. 
 
 
S1.3 CHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS  
 
S1.3.1 pH value  
The pH shall be between 6.0 and 10.0 at all times.  
 
S1.3.2 Organic strength  
The organic strength (measured as either Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) or as Biochemical 
Oxygen Demand (BOD5)) of any waste may require to be restricted where the capacity for 
receiving and treating the organic strength is limited. A COD or BOD5 restriction may be related to 
mass loading and the lesser of the following mass limits shall apply: 
 
Organic Strength ï COD and BOD  
COD  Mass limit  5000mg/sec  
BOD  Mass limit  2000 mg/sec  
Where no means for the measurement of organic loading exists (e.g. presence of continuous flow 
metering with data logging) then the lesser of the following maximum concentrations shall be 
applied: 
 
COD  2500 

g/m3  
BOD  1000 

g/m3  
 
Significant Industry dischargers may require additional limitations to the total daily mass of COD or 
BOD discharged and also to the timings of discharges in order to reduce the risk of adverse effects 
upon the WWAôs sewerage system. Where this is necessary, appropriate limits will be specified in 
the conditional trade waste discharge consent. In no case under a mass limit conditional trade 
waste discharge consent shall any discharge have a maximum COD concentration of greater than 
30,000 g/m3 or BOD of greater than 12,000 g/m3.  
 
 
 
  



Attachment 3  DRAFT Hutt Valley Trade Wastes Bylaw 2016  

 

 

 

DEM11-10-4 - 16/324 - Proposed Hutt Valley Trade Waste Bylaw 2016 Page  60 
 

TABLE 1 GENERAL CHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS 
(Mass Limits may be imposed, refer to clause 4.3) 

Characteristic Measured as Maximum concentration 
(g/m3) 

Anionic detergent Methylene blue active 
substances 

500 

Ammonia 
Å free ammonia 
Å ammonium salts 

N  
50 
200 

Kjeldahl nitrogen N 150 

Total phosphorus P 50 

Sulphate  SO4 
With good mixing 

500 
1500 (with good mixing) 

Sulphite SO2 15 

Sulphide H2S on acidification 5 

Chlorine 

¶ Free chlorine 

¶ hypochlorite 

Cl2 5 
30 

Dissolved 
aluminium 

Al 100 

Dissolved iron Fe 100 

Boron B 25 

Bromine Br2 5 

Fluoride F 30 

Cyanide CN weak acid dissociable 5 

Whey (or similar by-products 
of cheese manufacture) 

COD Solution strength equivalent 
to Mass Limit of 12.5 Kg 
COD/ day 
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TABLE 2 Heavy Metals 
(Mass limits may be imposed, refer to clause 4.3) 
 

Metal 
 

Maximum concentration* 
 (g/m3) 

Antimony 

Arsenic 

Barium 

Beryllium 

Cadmium 

Chromium ï Total (includes all valent forms) 

Cobalt 

Copper 

Lead 

Manganese 

Mercury 

Molybdenum 

Nickel 

Selenium 

Silver 

Thallium 

Tin 

Zinc 

10 

5 

10 

0.005 

0.5 

5 

10 

10 

10 

20 

0.05 

10 

10 

10 

2 

10 

20 

10 
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TABLE 3 ORGANIC COMPOUNDS AND PESTICIDES 
 

Compound Maximum concentration 
(g/m3) 

Formaldehyde 
Å measured as HCHO 

50 

Phenolic compounds 
Å measured as phenols, excluding 
chlorinated phenols 

50 

Chlorinated phenols 0.02 

Petroleum hydrocarbons 30 

Halogenated aliphatic compounds 1 

Monocyclic aromatic hydrocarbons 5 

Polycyclic (or polynuclear) aromatic 
hydrocarbons (PAHs) 

0.05 

Halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons 
(HAHs) 
Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) 
Polybrominated biphenyls (PBBs) 

0.002 
 
0.002 
0.002 

Pesticides (general 
Å includes insecticides, herbicides, fungicides 
but excludes organophosphates, see below, 
and 
Organochlorines and any pesticides not 
registered for use in New Zealand, refer S2.4 
(e)  

0.2 in total 

Organophosphate pesticides 0.1 
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SCHEDULE 2 PROHIBITED CHARACTERISTICS  
 
S2.1 Introduction 
This schedule defines prohibited trade waste discharges. 
 
S2.2 Prohibited Characteristics 
A discharge has prohibited characteristics if it has any solid, liquid or gaseous matters or any 
combination or mixture of such matters which by themselves or in combination with any other 
matters will immediately or in the course of time: 
(a) Interfere with the free flow of wastewater in the wastewater system 
(b) Damage any part of the wastewater system 
(c) In any way, directly or indirectly, cause the quality of the treated sewage or residual 

biosolids and other solids from any sewage treatment plant in the catchment to which the 
waste was discharged to breach the conditions of a consent issued under the Resource 
Management Act 1991, or water right, permit or other governing legislation 

(d) Prejudice the occupational health and safety risks faced by workers in the wastewater 
system 

(e) After treatment be toxic to fish, animals or plant life in the receiving waters 
(f) Cause malodorous gases or substances to form which are of a nature or sufficient quantity 

to create a public nuisance 
(g) Have a colour or colouring substance that causes the discharge of any wastewater 

treatment plant to receiving waters to be coloured. 
 
S2.3 Further prohibited characteristics 
A discharge has prohibited characteristics if it has any characteristic which exceeds the 
concentration or other limits specified in Schedule 1 unless specifically approved for that particular 
trade waste discharge consent. 
 
S2.4 Specific Prohibitions 
A discharge has a prohibited characteristic if it has any amount of: 
(a) Harmful solids, including dry solid wastes and materials that combine with water to form a 

cemented mass 
(b) Except as allowed for in Schedule 1, Liquid, solid or gas which could be flammable or 

explosive in the wastes, for example oil, fuel, solvents, calcium carbide and any other 
material which is capable of giving rise to fire or explosion hazards either spontaneously or 
in combination with wastewater.  

(c) Asbestos 
(d) Organo-metal compounds: 

(i) tin (as tributyl and other organotin compounds) 
(ii) chromium (as organic compounds) 

(e) Organochlorine pesticides 
(f) Genetic wastes being all wastes that contain or are likely to contain material from a 
genetically modified organism that is not in accordance with an approval under the Hazardous 
Substances and New Organisms Act. The material concerned may be from premises where the 
genetic modification of any organism is conducted or where a genetically modified organism is 
processed. 
(g) Any health care waste prohibited for discharge to the wastewater system or any 

pathological or histological wastes. 
(i) Radioactivity levels in excess of the Office of Radiation Safety Guidelines. 
(j) Any waste containing or contaminated by cytotoxic compounds.  
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Hutt Valley Services Committee  

05 April 2016 

 
 
 

File: (16/397) 

 
 

 
 
Report no: HVSC2016/2/31 

 

Project Pencarrow Progress Report  
20 January 2016 - 31 March 2016  

 

 

 
 

Purpose of Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on the progress of 
Project Pencarrow. 

 

Recommendation 

That the Committee notes the progress on Project Pencarrow as outlined in the 
report. 

 

Background 

2. The report is similar in format to the series of reports, which have 
updated the Committee on the progress of the project. 

Discussion 

DBO Contract Progress  

3. The Seaview treatment plant and other contract works continue to 
operate under the DBO contract. 

4. Rob Blakemore from Wellington Water has been appointed Contract 
Administrator, taking over from Alan Bannatyne who has been Contract 
Administrator since June 2000. 

5. There were no significant issues under the DBO contract in the reporting 
period.  
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Trade Waste Management  

6. No significant adverse trade waste events have occurred since the last 
report.   

Resource Management Processes 

7. There have been no operational non-compliances with respect to the 
Trunk Wastewater resource consents recorded in this reporting period.  

Network Development  

8. As previously reported tenders for the duplication of the Main Collecting 
Sewer between Barber Grove pump station and the Seaview treatment 
plant were declined due to the tender prices exceeding the available 
budget.  The project is now proposed to be deferred to 2020/21, subject to 
Councilsõ annual plan processes.  The deferment also allows time for 
Wellington Water Ltd to consider this project within the context of the 
wider resilience work that is being undertaken. 

9. An assessment of the structural and geotechnic resilience of the Main 
Pumping Station and the Milliscreen buildings at Seaview is ongoing.  
Further investigations of the building structures and ground conditions 
under them are to be undertaken to further ascertain structural and 
liquefaction mitigation options.  It is expected this phase of the work will 
be completed by end of July 2016 but is somewhat dependant on time 
taken for resource consents to be obtained from Greater Wellington 
Regional Council for boreholes. 

Network Maintenance  

10. A contract for the lining of a section of Gracefield Trade Waste sewer in 
Parkside Road has been awarded, with work to be undertaken in May 
2016.  Maintenance work on the Silverstream River Crossing scour 
protection was completed in February.  

Consultation 

11. Liaison has been maintained between officers of the two Councils and 
Wellington Water.  

12. Liaison with officers from GWRC has been maintained.    

Legal Considerations 

13. There are no legal considerations at this time. 

Financial Considerations 

14. There are no financial considerations at this time. 
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Other Considerations 

15. There are no other considerations at this time.   

 

Appendices 

There are no appendices for this report.      

 
   

  
 
 
 
Author: Anna Hector  
Wastewater Contracts Manager, Wellington Water  
 
 
 

 
 
 
Approved By: Bruce Sherlock 
General Manager, City Infrastructure  
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Hutt Valley Services Committee  

05 April 2016 

 
 
 

File: (16/398) 

 
 

 
 
Report no: HVSC2016/2/2 

 

Hutt Valley Trunk Wastewater Services 
Financial Statements for the Period Ended 31 

March 2016  

 

 

 
 

 
 

Purpose of Report 

1. To provide the Hutt Valley Trunk Wastewater Services Financial 
Statements for the period ended 31 March 2016. 

 

Recommendations 

It is recommended that the Committee: 

(i) notes the financial statements for the Hutt Valley Trunk Wastewater 
Services for the period ended 31 March 2016; and 

(ii)  notes a breakeven position has been achieved against a full year breakeven 
budget.  

 

Discussion 

2. This report sets out the Hutt Valley Trunk Wastewater Services financial 
statements for the period ended 31 March 2016 (attached as Appendix 1 
to the report) . Overall actual results are largely consistent with budget.  

The Financial Statements include the following:  

a) Statement of Financial Performance 
b) Statement of Movements in Equity  
c)  Statement of Financial Position 
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d)  Statement of Cash Flows 
e) Notes to Financial Statements 

 These financial statements relate to the provision of Hutt Valley Trunk  
Wastewater Services only. 

3. Capital expenditure for the period was $1,017,000. The following is a 
detailed list of major projects:  

a. TARF.WWCOMB: $521,000 relating to the asset replacement 
undertaken by HVWS as part of the DBO contract. Work includes 
replacement of dryer mixer plough shears, replacement of DAF air 
receiver valves and other minor works. The year-end forecast 
expenditure is $840,000. 

b. TBND.WWHUVA: $272,000 relating to the Main Collecting Sewer 
duplication project, however all tenders were declined and the 
project will be carried forward to next year.  The major valves 
were pre-ordered and are being held in stock.  The new year-end 
forecast expenditure is $300,000. 

4. The Financial Statements for the period ended 31 March 2016 are 
provided in a new format, attached as Appendix 2 to the report , for 
discussion. 

Financial Considerations 

5. There are no other financial considerations.   There are no issues of a 
financial nature to bring to memberõs attention. 

Consultation 

6. A copy of the Financial Statements for the period ended 31 March 2016 
has been forwarded to officers of the Upper Hutt City Council.  

Other Considerations 

7. In making this recommendation, officers have given careful consideration 
to the purpose of local government in section 10 of the Local Government 
Act 2002. Officers believe that this recommendation falls within the 
purpose of the local government in that it provides info rmation to 
Council with Trunk Wastewater Services that are shared with Upper Hutt 
City Council.  

 

Appendices 

No. Title  Page 

1  Hutt Valley Trunk Wastewater Services Financial Statements for 
the period ended 31 March 2016 

70 

2  Hutt Valley Trunk Wastewater Services Financial Statements for 
the period ended 31 March 2016 - new format  

75 
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Author: Darrin Newth  
Financial Accounting Manager  
 
 
 

 
 
 
Approved By: Philip Benseman 
Senior Management Accountant (Acting CFO)  
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